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Our guiding principles 

Indigenous acknowledgment

The primary locations of The Victorian 
Foundation for Survivors of Torture 
Inc. (VFST) at Brunswick, Dandenong, 
Sunshine and Ringwood are on the 
traditional lands of the Wurundjeri 
people. In keeping with Foundation 
House’s aspirations to heal individuals 
and communities we recognise the 
loss of land, children, language, lore 
and spiritual and physical wellbeing 
of the Wurundjeri people and other 
Indigenous Victorians due to the 
impact of colonisation. We believe 
that acknowledging the past and 
its impact on the present is vital in 
building strong Victorian communities. 

We recognise the survival and 
enduring strengths of Victorian 
Indigenous culture in spite of 
such dispossession and aim to 
build respectful and informed 
relationships with the Victorian 
Indigenous community based on 
the acknowledgment of their unique 
position as the traditional owners of 
Victoria. As such, Foundation House 
is committed to the acknowledgment 
and participation of Indigenous 
Victorians within Foundation House 
events and this is reflected in our 
official protocols.

The VIcTOrIan FOundaTIOn for 
Survivors of Torture Inc. (VFST) or 

‘Foundation house’ as it is also known 
was established in 1987 to meet the 
needs of people in Victoria who had been 
subjected to torture or other traumatic 
events in their country of origin or while 
fleeing those countries. 

Foundation House is a not-for-profit 
organisation managed by an elected board. 
Its work is funded by the Victorian and 
Commonwealth Governments, charitable 
trusts and donations from private 
individuals.

The main areas of activity of 
Foundation House are:
•	 providing direct services to clients in the 

form of counselling, advocacy, family 
support, group work, psycho-education, 
information and complementary 
therapies 

•	 offering professional and organisational 
development, consultancy and resources 

to assist health, education and other 
community service providers to enhance 
the responsiveness of their services 
to the needs of people of refugee 
backgrounds

•	 working with the Victorian and 
Commonwealth Governments to ensure 
that policies and programs have proper 
regard to the needs of people of refugee 
backgrounds

•	 conducting and contributing to research 
about the needs of people of refugee 
backgrounds and the best possible ways 
of meeting those needs.

Foundation House provides services 
across Melbourne with its primary 
locations at Brunswick, Dandenong and 
Sunshine and an outpost in Ringwood. 
Services are also provided in a number of 
rural and regional centres across Victoria. 

Foundation House is non-
denominational, politically neutral and 
non-aligned.

1. Torture is an unacceptable violation 
of human rights regardless of who 
is the perpetrator or for whatever 
purpose it is utilized.

2. Victorian Foundation for Survivors 
of Torture Inc. (VFST) is not 
politically aligned. VFST will 
advocate for policies that promote 
the health, wellbeing and human 
rights of refugees and asylum 
seekers and denounce the use of 
torture by any regime.

3. All survivors of torture have the 
right to rehabilitation and support 
services, regardless of their country 
of origin, their political or religious 
beliefs and regardless of the 
circumstances surrounding the 
torture.

4. In accepting the responsibility for 
providing a home for survivors of 
torture, the Australian community 

must also accept responsibility for 
providing them with appropriate 
community and health services.

5. Services provided should be of 
the highest possible standard, 
multifaceted and operate within 
a community development 
framework.

6. VFST services must encourage the 
development of self-esteem, human 
rights and the positive reinforcement 
of the individual’s ability to recover 
and rebuilt their lives. Self-
determination and independence 
will be fostered at all times.

7. VFST will maintain an 
organisational culture that is 
productive, innovative, sustainable 
and accountable and also maintain 
a commitment to supporting and 
strengthening the capacity of its staff 
team.

{ {Introducing Foundation House}}

Patrons

Prof. Hilary Charlesworth am

Ms. Dur-e Dara oam

Mr. Andrew Demetriou ao

Prof. David de Kretser ac

Mrs. Jan de Kretser
Mr. Petro Georgiou ao 
Hon. Michael Kirby ac cmg 
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Paris – it knocks staff around at times and 
can leave us feeling despairing when we 
know that the lived experience of many of 
our clients is so different to things being re-
ported. however, one of the differentiating 
factors for us is that our largest number of 
clients are those that come through the off-
shore humanitarian program. they come 
from camps in africa, the middle east 
and thailand and so on, and while many 
have suffered horrific experiences of loss, 
torture, trauma and family separation there 
is greater acceptance and support available 
for them in the settlement process. they 
have certainty of residency and eventually 
citizenship and so our work with them can 
focus on being able to build a future with 
confidence. that is not necessarily the case 
with asylum seekers whose futures are far 
less certain and where the level of support 
and acceptance is much less. What all of 
this means is that the focus of foundation 
house is on a wider range of issues and 
dimensions. 

Lynne – in fact our work with asylum seekers 
has gone to about 25 per cent this year.

Paris – yes, 25 per cent compared to only 
five or ten per cent of our caseload four 
years ago—it’s a very big jump and has re-
quired us to structure some aspects of our 
work differently and to recruit new staff for 
this particular area. 

Lynne – i think in these challenging times 
we have taken a very reasoned and appro-
priate position publicly in this context and 
tried to make a positive contribution. 

Paris – i think we’ve always maintained 
a view that people need to be treated hu-
manely and fairly. We recognize the diverse 
and crucial issues facing refugees being re-
settled through our humanitarian program 
and we have maintained a view that asylum 
policy, while extremely complex, should 
not be focused purely on deterrence or 
strategies that prevent people from seeking 
protection. there are no simple answers 
or solutions to these policy dilemmas and 
the objective is really to examine all of the 
issues honestly and develop better ways to 
manage them humanely.

Lynne – twenty odd years ago we were 
talking about rebuilding shattered lives, 
and we still are. 

Paris – there are some things that are 
perpetual issues that always need to be ad-
dressed, and there are some things that 
are very different. the nature of the en-
vironment has changed but foundation 
house’s core principles remain central to 
our existence regardless of any change in 
circumstances. We maintain our principles 
through all the volatility and changing dy-
namics and we analyse the changed circum-
stances rigorously so that we can continue 
to advance the needs of refugees without 
compromising our core beliefs. our com-
mitment to that sustains us and combined 
with the dedication of the staff team we 
have assisted over 3800 clients this year. 

Lynne – the other effect that core focus 
has is that over that time we’ve become 
even more rigorous with our commitment 
to risk management, around maintaining 
those services, making sure we’ve got ap-
propriate succession planning in place, 

reports from the Chair and CeO

{ {Our organisation}}

AFTER A YEAR OF SiGNiFiCANT POLiTiCAL CHANGE, with refugee 
and asylum seeker issues prominent in media and political debates, 
Foundation House Chair Lynne Haultain and CEO Paris Aristotle 
discuss the challenges of working in such a volatile environment, 
while maintaining quality of service, keeping focus on core values, 
and continuing to find innovative ways to assist people from refugee 
backgrounds who have survived torture and trauma.

Lynne – paris it’s been a pretty volatile 
year with the issues that are critical to us 
and to our clients front and centre of the 
political debate. What has that meant for 
foundation house?

Paris – i think operating in such a vola-
tile environment has been a significant 
challenge for us and other organisations in 
this sector. maintaining focus and securing 
the resources needed to face an increas-
ingly complex and highly sensitive area of 
work is never easy. in the case of working 
with asylum seekers, be they in detention 
or in the community, the political situa-
tion places a greater spotlight on all of our 
work. it puts increased pressure on the or-
ganisation to not just maintain but to raise 
standards in order to protect the wellbeing 
of our clients and staff and to reinforce 
foundation house’s credibility.

Lynne – and how does it impact on 
morale—how do people respond to all that 
incredible whirlwind of comment and dis-
cussion and debate and stereotyping and 
absurd claims that are made to and fro?

i n  M e M O r i a M  

Mr. Victor spitzer

FOundatiOn HOuse  LOst a Friend and suPPOrter tHis year  

with the passing of Mr Victor spitzer. Vic was a kind and thoughtful man  

who held genuine concern for those less fortunate within our community.   

Vic and his wonderful wife Fleur acted on that concern by providing tangible 

support to many worthy causes.  Foundation House was fortunate enough to be 

one of them.  Our organisation is made up of many good people who share our 

values, stand by our work and in doing so lend support to the people we serve.  

Vic was one of those very good people and he will truly be missed. Our sympathies 

and heartfelt thanks go to Fleur and Victor’s family.
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really being very mindful of our financial 
resourcing. it really focuses the mind, i 
think, to be in such a volatile environment.

Paris – the guidance from the Board 
in enabling us to manage that has been 
crucial. it’s an ongoing challenge for any 
organisation in this field. the adminis-
trative, finance and it areas have been 
working creatively and innovatively about 
ways of bolstering those aspects of our op-
erations so that we can function at optimal 
levels. the progress those teams are 
making is crucial if we are to enable all of 
our clients programs to be as efficient and 
effective as possible.

Lynne – We’ve managed to continue to 
expand the sort of support and capacity 
building we deliver. i’m thinking of the 
State Government announcement this 
year that has resulted in some extraordi-
nary support for refugee health nurses and 
expansion of our services into rural and re-
gional Victoria. We’re extremely apprecia-
tive—it’s making a big difference to people 
who live beyond melbourne.

Paris – yes, the Victorian Government 
committed a further $22 million in the 
health portfolio over the next four years. 
this is extraordinary considering the fi-
nancial pressures on government budgets 
at present. no other state or territory gov-
ernment has made such an investment. 
through the leadership of ministers david 
davis and mary Wooldridge, the State 
Government has continued the longstand-
ing tradition of keeping Victoria at the fore-
front of development in this area.

foundation house has been one of the 
beneficiaries but so too have rural and re-
gional services, the refugee health nurses 
program and health services for asylum 
seekers. 

much of the credit for this belongs 
also to the Victorian refugee health 
network, which is co-ordinated through 
foundation house and made up of an 
amazing group of agencies and individu-
als. their expertise, collaboration and 
genuine commitment has been the cor-
nerstone of the network’s success and 
has set the standard in this area around 
the country.

Lynne – We’ve long had a tradition of in-
novation, but i’m always really impressed 
by the ways in which we engage with young 
people. through the Schools program and 
through some really interesting research 
we are doing, but also with ucan2. We’ve 
mentioned over a number of years that 
this is a really innovative and important 
program for young people—connecting 
through their education experience, voca-
tional training, links with their commu-
nities and workplaces. it has incredibly 
positive effects on their morale and their 
settlement.

Paris – absolutely. one of the benefits of 
the government policy last year to increase 
the refugee quota to 20,000 places was 
an increase in funding for organisations 
like foundation house to meet additional 
demand. We were able to capitalize on that 
additional funding to, for example, con-
solidate the group work components of the 
ucan2 program. Group work is essential to 
how young people work through the issues 
of trauma and how they progress towards 
their aspirations for the future. one of our 
core priorities over the next 12 months is to 
work with the new federal Government to 
see if we can consolidate the funding nec-
essary for the ucan2 program.

Lynne – and if that comes off, that will be 
such a fine case study of what foundation 
house has been so good at for so long. 
taking philanthropic funding at the outset 
to develop innovative and incredibly suc-
cessful responses to needs in the com-
munity, seeing them through a process 
of piloting and development, and moving 
them into the mainstream support that 
people receive through the humanitarian 
program. that’s been one of the hallmarks 
of our success and its one that we need to 
continue.

Paris – it is. at times it feels a bit over-
whelming because building programs 
and making the case for them to continue 
through government support is not easy 
to do. When we can achieve that it leads 
to systemic reforms that will benefit refu-
gees whether they are our direct clients or 
not. i think in this area you always feel you 
take a few steps forward and end up being 
knocked a few steps back. however, the in-
cremental progress can nevertheless make 
a big difference to the lives of people we 
seek to serve. for that reason alone this ap-
proach will continue to be our core objec-
tive and focus.  

 > foundation house ceo paris Aristotle and chair Lynne haultain.
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direct services Overview

{ {Working with survivors}}

Our work with survivors

in tHe FinanCiaL year 2012-13, 
Foundation House provided direct servic-

es to 3815 survivors of torture and trauma. 
these services were delivered through two 
main programs: the Generalist program 
and the detention program for people who 
have received services while in immigration 
detention facilities or in Community 
detention. services for detention 
program clients have been funded by 
the department of immigration and 
Citizenship. 

the Generalist program is for clients 
who need assistance with problems as 
a result of their torture and trauma ex-
periences. it is funded by the Victorian 
department of human Services and the 
Commonwealth department of health 
(dhS) and ageing (doha) program 
of assistance to Survivors of torture 
and trauma (paStt). the Generalist 
program includes permanent residents, 
clients who are asylum seekers and have 
not received services under the detention 
program and those who no longer receive 
services under the detention program. 
Services for these clients are funded by 
dhS. 

direct services for clients include:
•	 provision of psycho-educative 

information, and information relevant to 
the receipt of services

•	 comprehensive assessments of 
psychological and social functioning 
and history of experiences of traumatic 
events 

•	 referral and facilitated access to 
mainstream and other services

•	 group programs
•	 individual and family counselling
•	 co-joint assessment and interventions 

with community liaison workers who 
comprise the Capacity Building team

•	 client advocacy 
•	 complementary therapies
•	 specialist mental health clinic services
all service provision is based on a com-
prehensive approach to enabling recovery 
from the consequences of torture and other 
traumatic events related to the refugee ex-
perience. the health and well-being of all 
family members is part of assessment and 
interventions. 

Client Profile

Clients of foundation house come from 
over 50 countries. the top four countries of 
origin of our clients are iran, afghanistan, 
iraq and Burma (myanmar).

this reflects the national origins of en-
trants under australia’s humanitarian 
program. 

the needs and presenting problems of 
clients are multiple and complex because 
their experiences of torture, trauma, and 
systemic persecution are typically repeated 
over long periods of time. the cumulative 
nature of traumatic experiences cannot be 
captured in the quantitative data. however, 
a consideration of the countries from 
which clients come indicates the long term 
nature of conflict and human rights viola-
tions. many children and young people 
have not known security and stability until 
their arrival in australia. 

Future Challenges 

responding to children and families 

as a population, refugee children are both 
at high risk of exposure to risk factors and 
have reduced access to factors that are 
known to protect and promote health and 
well-being. most refugee children will have 
been subjected to or have witnessed events 
such as war, bombing or shelling, and 
death or threat of violent death and injury 
to family or friends. all will have experi-
enced some degree of loss, from the loss of 
home, place, culture and friendships, to the 
more profound loss of parents, siblings and 
significant others. 

on arrival in australia children are 

required to learn a new language, adapt 
to a new set of cultural norms, and orient 
themselves to a new and unfamiliar school 
system. adaptation to school may be partic-
ularly difficult for those children who have 
had no or limited prior school experience. 

in responding to the needs of children 
we have developed innovative work involv-

ing strengthening parents’ awareness 
and involvement in promoting their 
children’s recovery. this complements 
the work of the Services innovation 
program (see pages 10 and 14) in fa-
cilitating parent participation in the 
early childhood years and in schools. 
through additional state funding for 
work with refugee children and families, 
the next three year period will see more 
work with children alongside capacity 
building with schools, communities and 
other child and family services. 

responding to asylum seekers
the majority of asylum seekers who are 

our clients have been in detention, but a 
significant number—being authorised ar-
rivals—have not been. this is one factor af-
fecting the diverse needs of asylum seekers. 
other critical factors are the extent to which 
they have been exposed to traumatic events 
in their country of origin and the perilous 
nature of their journeys. a number of our 
clients are survivors of boat tragedies. We 
hold special concerns for the well-being 
of children and unaccompanied minors 
who experience intense grief as a result of 
displacement and separation from family 
members. 

Some of our clients have been in deten-
tion for protracted periods. We have ob-
served the persistent nature of difficulties 
related to detention long after they have 
been released. the situation of adverse se-
curity clients held in immigration indefi-
nitely is such that marked deterioration in 
their mental health has occurred with great 
risk to their future health. 

Specialist services able to respond to the 
legacy of torture and other traumatic events 
are vital to the needs of asylum seekers. 
the work of other funded agencies, and the 
voluntary sector, has provided incalculable 
support in ensuring that broader mental 
health, physical health and family needs 
have received much needed attention.  
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{ {Working with survivors}}

like many refugees, Suleiman* 
fled his home country in north east africa in 
fear of his life. also in common with many 
others, he made a long and difficult journey 
to australia, ultimately to arrive at the doors 
of foundation house in melbourne. 

however, though refugee stories may 
have many aspects in common, foundation 
house recognises clients as 
individuals beyond the circum-
stances of being a refugee. in 
Suleiman’s case, the difficulties 
of his journey were compound-
ed by childhood 
traumas, and 
issues of gender 
and sexuality.
Suleiman had a 
difficult early life. 
‘i am born like 
this. my mum, 
she looks all the 
time like she un-
derstands me,’ he 
said. ‘my dad, he’s 
a strong man, a re-
ligion man, i have 
a problem with 
him. the imam, i 
have big problems 
with him.

When i went 
to high School, 
i have phobias, 
i can’t believe 
people. i go to 
s c h o o l ,  t h e n 
straight to my 
home.’

political and personal perse-
cution intersected when he was 
a young adult, and police tried 
to coerce him into reporting on 
local gay people. ‘they say, if 
everyone know you are gay, you 
have big problem, you are black-
listed. i said, i can’t, i don’t have 
information about this. they 
said, you are not right, you are bad.’

political turmoil was also increasing in 
his home country until he feared for his life. 
‘i have one friend, he gave me passport, he 
told me maybe you die, you can’t live your 
life here. he told me to go Cairo, maybe you 
can save your life.’

he went to Cairo in 2003 and was pro-
cessed by the unhCr as a political refugee. 
he found work with people with disabilities. 
life in Cairo was still not easy, though, and 
he was beaten and robbed more than once. 

he was threatened with death on three dif-
ferent occasions. he found it even harder 
to understand this continuing persecution. 
‘there are more people in Cairo who were 
gay, wearing clothes of a woman…i think, 
why [persecute] me? maybe because i am 
black. maybe because i seem weak. i am all 
the time crying. they take my money, three 

times they take my phone.’ he became 
fearful of going outside. ‘ i have bad heart, 
depression, not believe myself, not looking 
for job.’

fortunately Suleiman found a sympa-
thetic doctor in Cairo, and with his assis-
tance he came to australia in 2012. 

though things were better, it has been 
difficult for Suleiman to find a place where 
he feels safe and comfortable to settle. 
housemates were not necessarily sympa-
thetic. ‘they give me a hard time. they say, 

africans are not gay! even if i not tell them 
i am gay i cannot be myself.’ 

Suleiman was referred by his doctor 
to foundation house last year, and saw 
Counsellor advocate Carolyn Wilson. he 
also had access to a foundation house 
psychologist, and to massage and natural 
therapies.

‘Carolyn, she listens to me, 
give me hopes, solves many 
problems. one year ago, if i saw 
people talking, i am thinking, 
he’s talking about me. i have bad 

dreams.
‘it has really 

changed my life. 
my bad dreams—
9 0 %  g o n e . 
d e p r e s s i o n , 
g o i n g .  S t r e s s , 
going. my stud-
ies—i was always 
forgetting, can’t 
keep it in my head. 
now i save all my 
information.’

he still has 
not found a per-
manent place to 
stay, and currently 
shifts around 
various homeless 
accommodations. 
But despite his 
hardships, he feels 
more able to cope. 
‘it is hard to make 
friends, because 

i am homeless. But now i have 
hope. if i have a problem, i can 
fix this, i am not running away, 
not crying. my life has changed. 
i feel like i am born a new 
person.’

Suleiman wanted to share 
the importance of talking 
to a someone when you are 
struggling. 

‘a doctor, a psychologist can help you 
with your problems if you give them a 
chance,’ he said. ‘if you keep silent, if you 
do not give him chance, if you stay alone, 
if you cry, it is not good. if you go step by 
step, tell him all your suffering, they help 
you. But if you don’t tell, they can’t help you.

‘a person has problems, he needs one 
person to take his hand, from the dark, and 
he is in the light.’ 

*not his real name

~{ a step into the light }~
S u l e i m a n ’ S  S t o r y

‘It has really changed my life. My bad 
dreams – 90% gone. Depression, going. 
Stress, going. My studies – I was always 

forgetting, can’t keep it in my head.  
now I save all my information.’
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{ {Working with survivors}}

 > tABLe 3  tYpeS of ASSIStAnce provIDeD to vfSt cLIentS 2012–2013

 Hours % of Direct Service time

% frequency at assessment
 0–17 18+  
 YEARS YEARS

MeDIcAL

Dental
Detention 10 8
Generalist 26 16

General practitioner
Detention 74 74
Generalist 85 82

optometry
Detention 0 1
Generalist 14 8

Specialist Medical
Detention 3 8
Generalist 17 19

% frequency at assessment
 0–17 18+  
 YEARS YEARS

MeDIcAL (continued)

Specialist psychiatry
Detention 2 10
Generalist 2 10

SocIAL LIvInG neeDS

employment
Detention 13 24*
Generalist 10 42

family conflict or Breakdown
Detention 25 25
Generalist 16 15

direct services data
 > tABLe 1  coUntrY of orIGIn of vfSt 

cLIentS In 2012–2013

 GenerALISt DetentIon totAL

Afghanistan 547 109 656
Bhutan 64  64
Bosnia & Herzegovina 28  28
Burma (Myanmar) 352 4 356
Burundi 20  20
Cambodia 44  44
Congo, Republic of 12  12
Congo, Democratic  
Republic of 15  15
Egypt 28  28
Eritrea 27  27
Ethiopia 131  131
india 10 2 12
iran 577 198 775
iraq 593 51 644
Kuwait 11 4 15
Liberia 31  31
Nepal 10  10
Nigeria 20 3 23
Not identified 19 4 23
Pakistan 110 13 123
Sierra Leone 25  25
Somalia 41  41
Sri Lanka 195 128 323
Sudan 105  105
Syria 16 3 19
Thailand 58  58
Turkey 29 2 31
Vietnam 14 1 15
Other** 156 5 161
total 3288 527 3815

NOTES 

For children born in Australia (n=22), the 
country of origin of their parent(s) is listed.

 Generalist = all clients who received a service 
in the 2012-2013 year, except for those who 
received services under the Detention program

Detention = all clients who were in a detention 
centre or community detention when referred

 ** Other: There are 39 countries with less than 
10 clients

 > tABLe 2  vfSt cLIentS BY AGe, GenDer AnD proGrAM 2012–2013 

 GenerALISt DetentIon  nAtUrAL therApIeS MentAL heALth cLInIc

 Female Male Female Male Female Male Female Male
0-10yrs 115 123 10 15 1 2 3 8
11-20yrs 205 413 13 139 1 13 7 15
21-30 yrs 273 501 33 88 32 19 14 43
31-40 yrs 289 428 45 111 41 42 38 61
41-50 yrs 213 282 11 43 40 28 36 47
51-60 yrs 161 130 1 13 30 15 33 26
61+ yrs 70 85 2 3 8 4 5 10
total 1326 1962 115 412 153 123 136 210
Note : Clients in Natural therapies and Mental Health Clinic programs are also shown in Generalist 
and Detention programs 

Detention Generalist

 > tABLe 4  neeDS of vfSt cLIentS 2012–2013

REFERRAL OUT
REFERRAL INTAKE

REPORT WRITINGREPORT WRITING

OTHER
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 > tABLe 5  vfSt cLIentS’ eXperIence of tortUre AnD trAUMA 2012–2013

NOTE: All data in Table 5 is based on initial assessment and therefore actual numbers of events are under-reported.

% frequency at assessment
 0–17 18+  
 YEARS YEARS

phYSIcAL vIoLence

Severe Beating
Detention 14 36
Generalist 3 34

rape
Detention 2 8
Generalist 1 5

Any of: Damage to teeth, electric 
Shock,Genital Mutilation, other
Detention 11 14
Generalist 6 13

Sexual Assault other than rape
Detention 0 3
Generalist 0 5

Under combat fire
Detention 9 6
Generalist 10 18

hArDShIp 

In hiding
Detention 7 9
Generalist 19 25

Internal Displacement
Detention 11 7
Generalist 15 19

Lack of food or Water
Detention 7 3
Generalist 23 26

Lack of Shelter
Detention 7 3
Generalist 20 23

% frequency at assessment
 0–17 18+  
 YEARS YEARS

phYSIcAL vIoLence (continued)

refugee camp
Detention 2 4
Generalist 23 20
 
pSYchoLoGIcAL vIoLence

Dangerous flight
Detention 66 61
Generalist 54 68

Detention of family or friends
Detention 11 20
Generalist 8 24

Disapearance of family Members
Detention 25 17
Generalist 19 29

forced Separation from family
Detention 34 39
Generalist 37 57

house raided
Detention 7 14
Generalist 11 27

Kidnapping
Detention 5 6
Generalist 4 8

Solitary confinement
Detention 0 7
Generalist 3 13

Subject to Mock executions
Detention 0 2
Generalist 6 11

% frequency at assessment
 0–17 18+  
 YEARS YEARS

pSYchoLoGIcAL vIoLence (continued) 

threat of harm to family
Detention 55 63
Generalist 55 73

Witnessing others Killed
Detention 20 17
Generalist 12 34

Witnessing physical violence
Detention 43 47
Generalist 45 69
 
DetentIon

Detention – concentration camp
Detention 0 1
Generalist 0 2

Detention – home Detention
Detention 0 0
Generalist 0 1

Detention centre – Australia
Detention 100 100
Generalist 19 30

Legally Sentenced – prison term
Detention 0 0
Generalist 1 3

Summary (illegal) Detention
Detention 7 11
Generalist 2 11

% frequency at assessment
 0–17 18+  
 YEARS YEARS

SocIAL LIvInG neeDS (continued)

financial – Income Support
Detention n/a n/a
Generalist 26 40

financial – other
Detention n/a n/a
Generalist 22 36

higher Qualifications not recognised
Detention n/a n/a
Generalist 2 8

housing
Detention n/a n/a
Generalist 29 33

% frequency at assessment
 0–17 18+  
 YEARS YEARS

SocIAL LIvInG neeDS (continued)

Immigration (Sponsorship)
Detention n/a n/a
Generalist 39 47

Major Illness or handicap in the family
Detention 7 12
Generalist 14 19

Mental Illness
Detention 6 10
Generalist 22 13

School Attendance
Detention n/a n/a
Generalist 18 21

% frequency at assessment
 0–17 18+  
 YEARS YEARS

SocIAL LIvInG neeDS (continued)

Significant concern for family overseas
Detention 66 56
Generalist 53 67

Since Arrival, Death of a close relative 
or friend
Detention 4 5
Generalist 8 11

* Percent frequencies refer to  
post-detention period

 > tABLe 4  neeDS of vfSt cLIentS 2012–2013
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particular massage and herbal medicine. 
the massage provided him with short 

term relief, and he could take away the 

herbal oils, capsules and teas to use at 
home as needed.

Kamali was very keen to express his 
appreciation of foundation house. ‘if 
i had not knocked at the foundation 
house door i would have suffered a 

lot. every member of foundation 
house would deal with me in a very 
human, polite way,’ he said. ‘the 
kind of high valued human behav-
ior, this great attitude that i read 
in books and myths, turned into 
reality when i met representatives 
from this organisation. it is a great 
human treasure.’

Kamali has now moved on from 
foundation house and lives inter-
state. he has completed english lan-
guage lessons, and assists his family 
in adjusting to a new life. he enjoys 
studying philosophy and history. 

he still faces challenges, but Kamali 
said that the combination of services 
he received from foundation house 
helped him find strength to deal with 
them. 

‘the way i have now of accepting 
challenges and meeting new challenges, 
i learned at foundation house.’ 
and he still drinks the tea he discovered, 

or rediscovered, in the complementary 
therapies room.

‘it gives me serenity,’ he said. 

 ~{ Memories of 
  the mountains }~

K a m a l i ’ S  S t o r y

“the way I have now of 
accepting challenges and 
meeting new challenges, 
I learned at foundation  

house.”

Complementary therapies service

tHe COMPLeMentary therapies 
(Ct) program is a unique service pro-

viding Foundation House clients with 
access to a range of natural therapies such 
as naturopathy, herbal medicine, nutritional 
therapy, remedial and therapeutic massage 
and yoga. Physiotherapy and shiatsu 
therapy are also offered thanks to the gener-
ous contribution of qualified volunteers. 

Clients are referred to Complementary 
therapies from foundation house 
Counsellor advocates and mental health 
Clinic practitioners. alongside the refer-
rer, Ct naturopaths and massage thera-
pists consider health in a holistic manner 
which includes the impact on the physi-
cal self as a part of the whole self. there 
is an acknowledgement that in working 
with people of refugee background, the 
mind-body connection is part of the focus 
in seeking to manage symptoms associat-
ed with the effects of torture and trauma. 

in the financial year 2012–2013 
year Complementary therapies saw 
276 clients in Brunswick, Sunshine, 
dandenong and ringwood. in may 2013 
the Ct program were pleased with the ap-
pointment of a new team member ann 
marsh who joined the Sunshine team. 
this increased the natural therapies 
service at the Sunshine office to a full- 
time presence.

this year the complementary therapies 
team also piloted an iranian men’s yoga 
group, focusing on teaching strategies 
for managing anxiety, sleep problems 
and pain. the participants who regularly 
attended reported a marked difference in 
their levels of anxiety and better sleep, 
even falling asleep within the relaxation 
part of the class. further yoga classes are 
planned for the future in the Brunswick 
and dandenong offices as yoga groups 
continue to receive positive feedback. 

When Kamali brews the herbs 
prescribed by foundation house 
natural therapies practitioners, it creates 
a powerful and positive connection to 
his childhood.

‘the smell of the tea makes me nos-
talgic for the mountains where i 
grew up,’ Kamali said. 

‘in the old days, oils were used 
for massage for women who gave 
birth and for those who were suf-
fering from joint, muscle and bone 
pain. my mother used to make that 
oil. the ingredients were the same, 
they looked the same, the smell was 
the same.’ 

of hazara background, Kamali 
was born in afghanistan, and 
moved to pakistan when he was 
eight or nine. he fled pakistan and 
arrived in australia in 2011, and 
was in detention for over a year. he had 
had to leave behind his family, but they 
were finally able to join him in may this 
year, and now he lives with his wife and 
three teenage children.

When he first arrived, he strug-
gled with the physical and psychologi-
cal effects of his experiences, and was 
referred to foundation house by his Gp. 
he received counseling, and also treat-
ment through the foundation house 
Complementary therapies program, in 

 > Iranian men practise yoga poses with 
therapist Jenny Adams.
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refugee Mental Health Clinic: 10 years on

FOundatiOn HOuse refugee 
Mental Health Clinic has celebrated 

10 years of providing specialist psychiatric 
and psychological services to people from 
refugee backgrounds.

the Clinic began in 2003 as a collabo-
rative project between foundation house 
and the Victorian transcultural psychiatry 
unit. 

prior to the Clinic, foundation house 
and other organisations had difficulty 
finding specialist psychiatric and psychol-
ogy services that could provide quality care 
for refugee clients and survivors of torture. 
there was little, if any, funding for them 
to attend psychologists in private practice, 
and limited service in the public health care 
system. Clinicians did not necessarily have 
the cross-cultural skills required for work 
with refugee clients, and very few had expe-
rience in treating of survivors of torture.

the Clinic brought together independ-
ent practitioners with specialist experience 
in torture and trauma, and sometimes 
further specialisations such as adolescent 
health, to provide psychopharmacology 
and psychotherapy services to foundation 
house clients. 

tHe reFuGee MentaL Health Clinic 
has farewelled Psychiatrist dr. astrid 

dunsis after an association which encom-
passes the entire history of the clinic. dr 
dunsis was present at the very first meeting 
to plan the formation of Foundation House 
in 1987. in 2003, she attended a smaller 
meeting to get the Mental Health Clinic off 
the ground, and she has been a consulting 
psychiatrist at the Clinic from then until re-
tiring in august 2013. 

‘i am very pleased i chose to do this at 
the end of my career. i have met amazing 
people both as patients and colleagues,’ dr. 
dunsis said. ‘it has broadened my horizons 
enormously.’

over the years she has seen the demo-
graphics shift according to changes in 
global conflict, and also changes in the 
nature of presenting issues. ‘When i started 
we saw people from the former yugoslavia,’ 
she said. ‘more recently we see people from 
iran, iraq and egypt. But we also have seen 
people traumatised by periods of detention 
within australia,’ she said.

there have also been changes to the 
complexity of the politics and the ‘rules’ 
for refugees and she gives full credit to 
the Counsellor advocates (Ca’s) capacity 
to work within this landscape. ‘the Cas 
are fantastic people, very committed and 
knowledgeable,’ she said.

dr. astrid dunsis farewelled

 > Dr. Astrid Dunsis.

 > foundation house ceo paris Aristotle and Direct Services Manager Ida Kaplan 
reflect on 10 years of the refugee Mental health clinic, with past and present staff and 
professionals engaged with the clinic.

dr. dunsis studied medicine at the 
university of Western australia, and chose 
to specialise in psychiatry when she came 
to melbourne in 1968. Working as a psy-
chiatrist at the Queen Victoria hospital 
and monash medical Centre, she saw 
Vietnamese and Cambodian women as part 
of her general hospital work, and became 
interested in working with refugees. 

dr. dunsis comes from a refugee back-
ground herself—her family fled latvia after 
the Second World War and spent five years 
in refugee camps in Germany, eventually 
arriving in australia in 1950. 

though scaling back her clinical work, 
dr. dunsis intends to continue participat-
ing on the mental health review Board, 
and examining international medical 
graduates for accreditation. She also looks 
forward to spending time with her grand-
sons, and opportunities to travel.

But the association is too long to break 
entirely, and dr. dunsis has assured us that 
she will remain in touch with foundation 
house.  

the initial group of five clinicians 
began working in 2003 from the old 
parkville office of foundation house. 
Clinicians now operate across the 
Brunswick, dandenong and Sunshine 
premises. 

it remains an important part of the 
Clinic is that it is ‘nested’ within the full 
range of other foundation house servic-
es. Clients of the Clinic can be connected 

as appropriate to counselling, advocacy, 
natural therapies, medical referral, com-
munity capacity building or other pro-
grams. this provides a unique, holistic 
and flexible model of service. 

the needs of other family members are 
often identified in the course of provid-
ing treatment and these family members 
may be linked in to the Clinic or to other 
foundation house services. 
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schools support Program

FOundatiOn HOuse schools 
support Program works with schools 

to enhance the emotional health and 
educational outcomes of students from 
refugee backgrounds.

in the past year the Schools team part-
nered with 32 schools in five networks 
spread across metropolitan melbourne 
and Bendigo (see also Supporting Rural 
and Regional Schools, page 18) each of 
these schools is working closely with 
our School Support officers to assess 
and make changes within a whole school 
approach, strengthening each school’s 
approach to working with students of 
refugee backgrounds and their families. 

the Schools Support program also 
continued to provide secondary consulta-
tion, and ran professional learning and 
development sessions for more than 2500 
teachers and support staff in 2012–13. 

in addition to the work being under-
taken through the school networks, the 
Schools Support program, in partnership 
with five schools and five communities, 
has embarked on an eighteen month 
project to design and document a parent 
engagement strategy specific to parents 
and carers from refugee backgrounds. 
relationships to enhance accessible 
learning (real), has created a partner-
ship team of more than 70 people from 
participating schools and the afghan, 
assyrian/Chaldean, Chin, Karen and 
South Sudanese Communities. through 
this partnership base, real aims to 

design, implement and document a trans-
ferable and sustainable model of parent/
carer engagement strengthening the 
connection between refugee background 
parents/carers and the schools, school 
communities and education processes in 
which their children are participants. 

Working with the Catholic education 
office melbourne (Ceom), the Schools 
Support program has also completed a 
project detailing ways in which Catholic 
schools can best support and engage 
families of students from refugee and 
migrant backgrounds. the foundation 
house project worker facilitated work-
shops and professional development for 
staff in six clusters to support the en-
gagement of refugee background fami-
lies with their children’s education. the 
project aimed to promote the good prac-
tice occurring in schools and support its 
progress to common practice.

the final report identifies 20 deter-
minants of effective family engagement 
for families of newly arrived and refugee 
background. it provides examples where 
these practices have been implemented, 
and makes practical suggestions for 
how schools can enhance their existing 
practices. 

resources including a professional 
learning time line and an audit exercise 
to help schools assess their current level 
of engagement with Cald and refugee 
background families are also provided. 

When tesfai tegail first arrived 
in melbourne, he felt ‘like a fish out of the 
sea.’ he had been forced to leave his home 
in eritrea, where he had been in his third 
year of studying Biology at university.

‘i came from a society with the same 
language, with my friends and family,’ he 
said. he found himself in ‘a new country, 
new society, new area—everything was new 
here.’

tesfai missed his friends and family, 
his language and culture. But through 
language lessons, he was introduced to 
the foundation house ucan2 program. 
‘We visited different places. We did a lot 
of things. it was a lot of fun. the ucan2 
people were like friends for me. they ex-
plained all the obstacles that new people 
can have here, they motivated me.’ 

the program has an ongoing relation-
ship with australia post, which sponsors 
mentoring and employment opportuni-
ties for ucan2 participants. as part of this 
program, tesfai got casual work at australia 
post and was connected with a mentor, 
Josh mclean.

Josh had seen the ucan2 mentorships 
advertised through internal publicity at his 
australia post workplace. ‘i thought—what 
a great idea!’ he said. he found out more 
about the program, attended preparatory 
workshops, and was introduced to tesfai.

Josh was a point of contact at australia 
post, and helped tesfai with other work 
skills such as preparing his CV and writing 
job applications. the two also met for social 
outings around melbourne, or just for a 
coffee. 

tesfai enjoyed his placement at 
australia post. ‘it is a very large work area, 
a lot of people with different cultures, with 

OVER A QUARTER OF ALL CLiENTS attending Foundation House 
counseling services are under 21. High percentages of young clients 
have experienced traumas such as forced separation from family, 
disappearance of family members, threat of harm to their families, and 
the witnessing of violence and killings. Many have not known security and 
stability until arriving in Australia. Young people arriving as adolescents 
can be at particular risk of being marginalized. 

Alongside intensive work with individuals, Foundation House supports a 
number of projects that work to improve responses to the needs of young 
people from refugee background in education and service provision, to 
assist with access to employment, and to support making connections 
within and across cultures.
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ucan2 

different language. it is like the whole of 
australia is there! they welcomed us, it 
was nice. i was sorting the parcels, it is 
not hard.’

tesfai said having Josh as a mentor 
helped him tackle challenges. ‘When he 
is beside me i feel confident, if some-
thing happened to me i just call him 
or send him a message and i ask him. 
Because he is beside me i feel confident 
and i do things confidently.’

for Josh, the benefits of the program 
go both ways. ‘i think it is a great 
program for employees at australia 
post. i think it is good for our devel-
opment. it’s a good balance to have—
to focus on something at work but 
also have something outside of work, 
because i apply my learnings from this 
program to work and my learnings from 
work into this. Being a mentor you have 
to be open minded, there is issue resolu-
tion, finding answers to problems that i 
have never had to deal with before.’

Josh also found the experience broad-
ening for him beyond the work context. 
‘it was a good learning experience for 
me to get to know him, also his values, 
traditions, more about his country and 
where he came from, what he did day to 

day there, about his family, his two kids,’ 
he says. 

tesfai has now gone on to full time 
work, and Josh is mentoring a new 
ucan2 participant. though they see each 
other a bit less, tesfai and Josh have 
maintained the friendship.

‘i think tesfai and i will be like heart 
brothers moving forward,’ says Josh. ‘i 
look forward to growing some more to-
gether.’ 

~{ Heart brothers }~
J o S h  a n d  t e S f a i ’ S  S t o r y

“It was a lot of fun. the 
Ucan2 people were like 

friends for me. they 
explained all the obstacles 
that new people can have 
here, they motivated me.” 

— tesFai

Being a mentor you have 
to be open minded, there 
is issue resolution, finding 
answers to problems that 
I have never had to deal 

with before.’  
— JOsH

tHe uCan2 PrOGraM recognises 
the need to provide additional support 

for young people who are newly arrived to 
australia and from a refugee background, 
as they make their way through the post 
compulsory school, training and tertiary 
sectors. the program has been developed 
by Foundation House with the specific goal 
of increasing education, training and em-
ployment opportunities for young refugees. 

ucan2 provides support services to 
encourage newly arrived young people to 
remain engaged in education and training 
whilst following an appropriate pathway 

to reach their goals. 
in partnership with their english lan-

guage provider, young people within the 
program are provided with educational 
case management, a specialised curricu-
lum, and social support and mentoring. 
education, training and employment op-
portunities are increased by engaging 
local networks, businesses, sporting clubs 
and the arts in the program. 

in the past 12 months, approximately 
240 newly arrived young people from 
refugee backgrounds undertook ucan2. 
through the ongoing partnership with 

australia post, the mentoring compo-
nent of the program has continued to 
grow, and more than 80 employees from 
australia post, K-mart and legal firm 
homan fenwick Willan have been trained 
and matched with a young person from 
the program. 

in august 2013 ucan2 asked a number 
of mentors and mentees to reflect on their 
experience of the program. the response 
demonstrated clearly the ways that this re-
lationship is “life changing” for both the 
young person and their mentor. (See Josh 
and Tesfai’s story below). 
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the aim of the Strengthening relationships 
part of the project was to enhance the re-
lationships between Karen young people 
and their parents and elders, and the wider 
Karen community. a key component was 
the establishment of a working group of 
young people and elders to identify activi-
ties which could bring the generations to-
gether. ten young people and seven elders 
and adults formed the working group, 
which was representative of the diversity 
within the Karen population itself. a Karen 
project Worker was employed to assist in 
supporting the group and resourcing the 
activities that emerged from discussions. 

activities to build the group and make 
connections included a drama workshop, 
an outing to hanging rock, and rock 
climbing. there were also activities for 
the wider community, with a Karen mini-
olympics, and a debate and trivia night 
attracting around 300 participants at each 
event.

project Worker thataw Kunoo compiled 
some of the experiences and conversations 

of the group into a booklet titled ‘Voices 
from the Community’. members of the 
Working Group endorsed the booklet as 
providing an opportunity to encourage 
discussions within families and the wider 
community, and endorsing the open-
ness of expression of challenges they face 
together.

Comments from the community about 
the resource include:

“i will read this booklet and discuss 
it with my children and whole family. it 
gives me a way to talk to them about it.”

“Some parents are unable to commu-
nicate with their children. the booklet is a 
good tool for communication.”

“the book is good because it shows 
like a balance between young people and 
older people. it’s like scales—balanced 
on both sides with the voices of older and 
young people”

a PrOJeCt wOrkinG with karen young people and community members has pro-
duced a range of creative resources relevant to the community. these include songs 

and films produced by the young people, and a resource book to encourage engagement 
between younger and older members within the karen Community. 

the activities were an extension of the initial project funded through nib foundation 
in 2010, and build on this successful base. 

strengthening relationships

engaging youth

about 20 Karen youth participated in the 
foundation’s ‘engaging youth’ program 
to make a series of music videos about 
“health and harm minimisation” messages.  
young participants wrote, developed, 
sang and recorded four music video clips 
depicting the challenges facing young 
Karen people, and providing important 
health promotion and harm minimisa-
tion messag-
es. the ages 
of the people 
i n v o l v e d 
ranged from 
15 to 25, with 
roughly equal 
numbers of 
males and females. industry profession-
als including a film maker and sound 
editor provided technical assistance, and 
the finished videos—the pastor, Bad Son, 
unaccompanied Child, and Get ready—
were posted on youtube. as of may 2013, 
the clips had a combined total of nearly 
3500 views. the dVd: ‘Get ready: Songs 
and films by Karen young people’ includ-
ed the finished products as well as com-
mentary from the participants about how 
they were involved.

the work follows an 18-month pilot 
project which included the establishment 
of the Karen youth advisory Committee 
(yaC). the committee included participa-
tion from Karen young men and women 
who were actively involved in their com-
munity, young men who had become 
disengaged from their community, and 
representatives from key local servic-
es. many of the Karen youth involved 
in the projects were born and raised in 
refugee camps on the thai-Burma border.  
foundation house coordinator Susie 
Strehlow noted that Karen students can 

only study to year 10 in refugee 
camps. “When people arrive 
they have many hopes for their 
education but the reality is that 
when they get linked to a school 
they can find the work difficult 
and this creates disappoint-
ment. this is such a shame 
because they have so many 
strengths.”  

words and music from the karen community

 > Strengthening relationships events 
included a Mini-olympics (left) and 
a community debate.

 >participants and professionals 
working together on the 
engaging Youth project.
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On aLternate tHursdays at 
Foundation House’s dandenong 

office, the upstairs training room is trans-
formed with rugs, food and music into 
a comfortable, safe space, in preparation 
for the arrival of the afghan young Men’s 
Group. 

the members of the group are aged from 
16 to 19, of afghan background, and have 
all arrived in australia without immediate 
family. they meet fortnightly, or sometimes 
more often, to chat, eat, dance, play music, 
celebrate cultural events, and participate in 
community based art as well as recreational 
events and outings. the group provides a 
basis from which participants are able to 
form relationships and feel a sense of con-
nectedness. this helps them to break out 
of the social isolation that so often domi-
nates their lives as unaccompanied minors 
in a new country. the group also provides 
participants with the opportunity to share 

individual and common experiences, and 
to access information about relevant ser-
vices, events, and local opportunities.

the afghan young men’s Group project 
began in September 2012. foundation 
house Counselor advocates, through ex-
perience with their own clients and feed-
back from other agencies, established that 
there was a need for a safe, supportive place 
for this particular group of young people 
who might otherwise be in danger of be-
coming disengaged and isolated. it had 
become evident that in order to respond to 
the needs of unaccompanied minors and 
accommodate the different ways young 
people engage in support, models of coun-
selling needed to be flexible.

the initial pool of young people of 
about 25 was drawn from foundation 
house counselling clients. the numbers 
have ebbed and flowed over time, but that 
is part of the flexible nature of the group 

where participants are encouraged, but 
not required, to attend. it is deliberately 
‘semi-structured’ to lower the barriers for 
the young men to engage in much needed 
relationship building, psychoeducation, 
and mentoring. the group also provides 
the grounds to start processing some 
of the traumatic experiences the young 
people have been through; and the ongoing 
stressors of being uncertain when—or 
if—they might be reunited with their fami-
lies, who continue to live in dangerous 
circumstances. 

as well as providing social support and 
information, the group work model assists 
the young men recognise their abilities and 
skills in areas such as sport and art, and 
supports independent living skills. it helps 
makes connections between members, and 
with foundation house workers, and to-
gether the participants build positive mem-
ories and experiences. 

a space to grow: afghan young Men’s Group

‘unbelievable’: a healing weekend 

a weekend PrOGraM for the 
afghan young men offered them a 

space and time to further develop social 
connections with peers and adults, and to 
reduce isolation and stress that are pre-
dominant features in their day to day lives. 

three foundation house Counsellor 
advocates together with mestre roxinho 
(the founder and director of project Bantu, 
a core program used by StarttS in 
nSW), took a group of 11 participants of 
the afghan young men’s group program 
at foundation house to presentation 
family Centre at Balnarring Beach on the 
mornington peninsula.

the weekend program had a focus on 
well-being of mind, body and spirit, and 
included structured therapeutic activities 
including ‘Capoeira angola,’ which com-
bines elements of martial arts, music and 
dance. mestre roxinho works extensively 
with refugee young people using this afro-
Brazilian art form as a therapeutic tool for 
expression and trauma healing. alongside 
these workshops was a weekend filled with 
social connection, relaxation and recrea-
tion through beach walks and sport, games, 
playing musical instruments, singing and 
dancing, cooking and sharing of food, con-
versations, and sharing a ‘home’. 

this opportunity was made possible 

through foundation house’s ongoing com-
mitment to therapeutic group work with 
unaccompanied minors, together with a 
generous philanthropic donation from the 
Kiwanis Brighton (Vic) Club.

feedback from the young men who at-
tended in the days following our return was 

very positive and affirming of the benefits 
of such a group program. 

one of the young men said: “We could 
not believe how good it was. We thought we 
would just go on a holiday and relax. But we 
had no idea that it would be so much more. 
it was unbelievable.”  

 > foundation house counsellor Advocates with some of the Afghan young men who 
attended the weekend workshop at Balnarring.
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{ {Working with young people and families}}

tHere are inCreasinG numbers of 
families arriving in australia with chil-

dren who have been exposed to violence 
and traumatic events. Familial support and 
parents’ emotional functioning are strong 
factors mitigating the development and 
duration of trauma symptoms in children, 
and enhancing a child’s resilience and ca-
pacity to resolve these symptoms.

recognising this, foundation house 
has developed a program of parent-fo-
cused psycho-education. the program 
assists parents to understand the nature 
of trauma, and to identify how they can 
support their children both immediately 
and into the future.

Based on demographic trends and sub-
sequent increasing need, the program has 
been piloted in assyrian/Chaldean and 
Chin communities. the past year has seen 
an increase in parents and children arriv-
ing from Syria, notably families of assyrian 
and Chaldean backgrounds, who have been 
exposed to the fighting and civil war in Syria 
after having fled there from iraq. there has 
also been an increase in families of Chin 
background where children and young 
people are arriving without their parents, 
and being cared for by extended family.

the program was tailored to the 
needs of the two different communi-
ties. for assyrian and Chaldean parents, 
foundation house developed a two 
session model for delivery of information, 
and ran three of these programs to newly 
arrived parents. 

the Chin program began with a three 
group session for young people, based at 
their english language school. parents and 
caregivers were then invited to attend two 
later sessions. the parents’ sessions incor-
porated feedback about the topics covered 
in the students’ program, without identify-
ing particular responses.

the strength of the model is its capac-
ity to provide an opportunity for parents to 
recognise and normalise their children’s 
behaviour as a response to what they have 
been through, and also to access strategies 
that they can implement in their daily lives 
to support their children.

the group session also provided parents 
with the opportunity of realising that others 
share similar concerns.

feedback has been overwhelmingly 
positive. participants have indicated that 

they have valued the opportunity to share 
their concerns for their children while also 
acknowledging the impact of their own ex-
posure to traumatic events.

the program also helps develop knowl-
edge and trust in foundation house as a 
point of contact if they have ongoing con-
cerns for their children. 

supporting parents to deal with the impact  
of trauma on their children

the service Literacy strategy 

OVer tHe Past 12 months the 
service innovation Program (siP) has 

been developing a model to increase the 
participation rates of families and individu-
als from particular communities in main-
stream services. 

Sip is currently working with com-
munity consultants from the afghan and 
assyrian/Chaldean communities, along 
with a number of pre-natal and relationship 
counseling services, with a view to increas-
ing support, service provision and engage-
ment for these communities. 

Community consultants are profes-
sionally employed on a casual basis to 
design processes in partnership with 
the relevant services. the aim is to build 
a knowledge base of specific services 
across participating communities; and 
to enhance capability within those ser-
vices to provide culturally relevant and 
informed programs. 

the Service literacy Strategy is support-
ed by the hugh Williamson foundation 
and portland house foundation, both long 
term supporters of foundation house.  

 > Service Literacy – opening doors between services and communities.
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PrOFessOr tim McCormack 
began the 2013 Oration, titled ‘what 

prospects for the pursuit of Global 
Justice?’, by drawing parallels between 
the international Criminal Court and 
Foundation House. though the two very 
different organisations might not seem im-
mediately comparable, he noted that both 
‘focus not on the depressing darkness and 
gloom which so readily overwhelms, but on 
how we respond to that in a positive and a 
constructive way, which enables those who 
have suffered, hopefully to move on with 
their lives.’

professor mcCormack is the Special 
advisor on international humanitarian 
law to the prosecutor of the international 
Criminal Court in the hague, and 
professor of law at the melbourne law 
School. he drew on his wealth of experi-
ence in international humanitarian and 
criminal law to discuss the work of the 
international Criminal Court. despite the 
grim subject matter he spoke with hope 
and often with humour, as he reflected on 
the history and considerable challenges of 

attempts to bring violators of human rights 
to international justice.

the oration is a keynote speech 
on topical issues, hosted each year by 
foundation house. the speech, deliv-
ered on 26 June 2013 to commemorate 
the united nations international day in 
Support of Victims of torture, can be heard 
in full on the foundation house website: 
www.foundationhouse.org.au  

the quest for Global Justice:  
Foundation House 2013 Oration

Quentin Buckle 
study Grants

tHe Quentin BuCkLe study 
Grants help to financially support 

people from a refugee background in ed-
ucation or training in their chosen field. 
the grants program was established in 
2007 in honour of founding Victorian 
Foundation for survivors of torture com-
mittee member and human rights advo-
cate Quentin Buckle. it commemorates 
his lifelong commitment to human rights, 
community, social justice and advocacy.

recipients were presented with their 
awards by the minister for health, the 
hon. david davis mp, at the foundation 
house end of 2012 celebration.

the following students received grants 
in 2012:
•	 ms alham abadiyan is 20 years old 

and comes from afghanistan, having 
arrived in australia in 2009. She was 
the first ucan2 participant to receive the 
grant which is assisting her with her 
studies in interior design at rmit in 
2013.

•	 ms Baneen huseini is 18, and originally 
from iraq. the award will assist 
towards her plans for studying nursing.

•	 mr ali reza izadi and ms. Shima izadi 
are brother and sister from iran, having 
arrived in australia in 2010. Both used 
the funds to assist with their Biomedical 
Science degrees at Victoria university.

•	 mr Zakariye Jimale is 19, from 
Somalia, and arrived here in 2008. 
he is studying foundation Studies 
for engineering, and the grant will 
support his aim to study engineering at 
Bachelor level.

•	 mr mukhtar hussain nazari is the 
youngest recipient at 16. he is is from 
afghanistan and arrived in australia in 
2011. he used the grant to assist with 
his VCe studies.

•	 ms Justine Korpoi is 48, and from 
Sierra leone. She came to australia in 
2005, and is studying nursing.

the Quentin Buckle Study Grant is sup-
ported by portland house, and adminis-
tered by foundation house. 

additional donations for this year’s 
Grants came from presbyterian ladies’ 
College and St monica College.

We would also like to thank derrimut 

primary School, who donated funds just 
after the end of the financial year. their 

contribution will go towards next year’s 
grants.  

 > professor tim Mccormack delivers the 
foundation house oration. 

 > health Minister David Davis presented the 2012 Quentin Buckle Study Grants to this year’s 
hard working recipients. foundation house chair Lynne haultain is on the right.

{ {Our organisation}}

http://www.foundationhouse.org.au/announcements/foundation-house-oration-2013-available-for-podcast-or-viewing
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Cambodian 
women’s Group

tHe CaMBOdian women’s group 
began with a small but emerging pres-

ence of clients within Foundation House 
counselling services. though Cambodians 
are one of Victoria’s longer-established 
refugee communities, having had a pres-
ence here for 30 years, in the early years of 
settlement few were ready to engage with 
counselling for trauma. 

a few years ago, though, foundation 
house counsellors found that many 
Cambodians were more ready to engage 
with their past experience of torture, 
trauma, loss and grief. for some, the sense 
of having finally ticked some of the settle-
ment goals of education, employment or 
home ownership allowed them to move on. 
for others experiences such as motherhood 
triggered memories of their own childhood. 

in 2009 foundation house developed 
a group work program specifically for 
Cambodians. most were long term resi-
dents, of ten to twenty years, and all had 
lived through the pol pot regime. many of 
the women had been widowed during the 
pol pot regime and others had lost their 
husbands to ill health or marital conflict. 
the group worked within a framework of 
both intentional reflection on the past, and 
considerations for the present, and included 
work on managing disturbing memories, 
understanding and managing anxiety and 
depression, managing current family dy-
namics, and working with body in terms of 
physical pain and psychological symptoms. 

the group no longer operates on a formal 
model, but meets fortnightly to share their 
experiences and maintain these impor-
tant connections. the group is facilitated 
by Jasmina mulugeta and by Cambodian 
Bicultural facilitator nary Sam, whose life 
experience and bilingual/bicultural skills 
have been critical to the group’s develop-
ment. 

Foundation House works with adults and older people as individual 
clients and through group work and capacity building.

Adults (over 18) make up the bulk of Foundation House direct 
services clients, and within this group is a vast range of individual 
stories and backgrounds. 

Older people or elders from refugee backgrounds may present 
with particular issues, needs, and experiences. They may have a 
range of complex health needs where normal ageing processes are 
impacted by experience of hardship or torture, or may struggle with 
adjusting to the different cultural roles expected of older people in 
a new country. Within any community, there may be disconnections 
across age groups (see the Karen project to connect older and 
younger people, on page 12). 

{ {Working with adults}}

assyrian Chaldean women’s Group

 > through the services of our committed volunteers, foundation house continues to 
offer english language classes at our Brunswick office. here, a class enjoys a well-earned 
lunchtime break in the foundation house garden. Many thanks to our english language 
volunteers: Margaret Wehl, helen hanrahan,  Anne hayman, Leonie Ball and Jenny Little.

older people may have need for spe-
cific information related to aging such 
as health services and funeral arrange-
ments. in communities that have been 
established in australia for a long time, 
there may be people who only find the 
capacity to engage with the trauma of 
their earlier life in their middle or later 
years, once the practicalities of home 
and financial security are established.

Bringing together groups of people 
from similar background provides the 

opportunity to address common con-
cerns, but also can provide support, 
connection and affirmation for the 
participants. the groups often develop 
a life of their own beyond the original 
project.

improving english language skills 
can also be a priority for adults and 
older people, and foundation house 
is also fortunate to have a dedicated 
group of volunteers enabling us to 
provide english language lessons.

tHe assyrian Chaldean women’s 
Friendship Group has become an 

important social support for participants 
many of whom have lost their partners as 

a result of war, and are without extended 
families in australia. the group meets fort-
nightly to discuss issues such as grief and 
loss, parenting, relationships, budgeting, 

health, and wellbeing. it is facilitated by 
the Foundation House assyrian Chaldean 
community liaison worker, and anglicare 
Broadmeadows.
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{ { Working with adults}}

establishing its own direction and priori-
ties. a strong focus has been on sharing 
the stories and histories of individual group 
members, and a sub-working group has 
identified this as a primary project for the 
group in the future. this sub-group aims 
to document the individual stories and the 
history group members played a part in. 
the group has also focused on learning 

CHin and karen elders 
have often played leadership 

roles within their communi-
ties prior to arrival in australia. 
resettlement in a new country 
can leave them feeling a loss of 
role and status. together 
with the lack of employ-
ment opportunities for older 
people, this can make them 
vulnerable to depression and 
a loss of hope.

in response to these 
needs, identified through in-
dividual case work in 2012-
13, the foundation house 
Capacity Building team 
has had a strong focus on 
working with and supporting 
elders from both the Chin 
and Karen communities. 
Groups were established to 
support older community 
members who were feeling 
isolated and disconnected 
from the community in a new 
and very different country. 

the Karen elders and ex-
Combatants Group is a mixed 
group of twenty-four older 
Karen, who share a history of 
involvement in the struggle for 
freedom in Karen State in Burma. they 
meet monthly, supported by the Karen 
Community liaison Workers, Chitlu Wyn 
and reginald Shwe, and CaB team Co-
ordinator, Susie Strehlow. members come 
from a number of suburbs and reflect 
the diverse religious affiliations of the 
community.

the group has been involved in 

about opportunities to undertake 
volunteer work and been linked 
to multiple local and council ser-
vices, as well as having a focus on 
health and the impact of trauma.

the Chin elders Group brings 
together approximately 
sixteen male elders from 
across the very diverse Chin 
community—reflecting the 
seven different Chin dialects 
spoken, and the different 
religious denominations to 
which members are affiliat-
ed. it is the only opportunity 
members have to communi-
cate with each other across 
these groups.

like the Karen, the group 
has had a strong focus on ex-
ploring opportunities for vol-
unteering, and been linked 
to Brimbank Council, with 
members successfully achiev-
ing volunteer positions. 

further linking to local services 
has included the men’s Shed, the 
local community garden, as well 
as supporting them to access local 
recreational opportunities such as 
swimming and lawn bowls. the 
group has also chosen to focus on 

a sharing of their stories, which has been a 
powerful tool for building connection, trust 
and an acknowledgement of the past and 
the important role they played in their trou-
bled country.

this group has been facilitated by 
Community liaison Workers, andrew 
Kalon and thomas mung, together with 
team Co-ordinator, Susie Strehlow. 

~{ a new respect }~
e l d e r S  f r o m  t h e  C h i n  

a n d  K a r e n  C o m m u n i t i e S

 > the chin elders Group (pictured here with 
foundation house staff) provides an opportunity to 
communicate across different dialect and religious 

groups within the community.

strength to strength: Bhutanese seniors

tHe BHutanese seniOrs Group 
now meeting regularly in the Glenroy 

senior Citizens Centre had its origins with 
individual clients of Foundation House. 
From this base Counsellor advocate 
Giovanna Citta established connections 
with other Bhutanese older people who 
were isolated at home with little chance for 
interaction. 

‘foundation house provided a trusted 
connection,’ said Giovanna. ‘We were in a 
position to link them to other services.’

an initial group of twenty older people 
formed the group. most had been in 
refugee camps in nepal, some for up to 

25 years, and in general they had been in 
australia for one to three years. Some came 
as part of a family, but some had family still 
in camps. 

as older people, they had particular 
needs and interests. many were anxious 
about how to meet their cultural and re-
ligious requirements for funerals in this 
country and were reassured by information 
sessions attended by local funeral direc-
tors, along with a visit to a crematorium. 
hot baths had been part of their traditions, 
and they enjoyed trips to hot springs in 
the mornington peninsula. excursions to 
apollo Bay inland to the otways reminded 

some of the scenery of the mountains of 
Bhutan.

the group was also connected with local 
councils, community health centres, and 
health assessment teams.

after the initial support from foundation 
house, the group is now self-sufficient. 
many of its members, though, maintain a 
connection to foundation house through 
committed attendance at our english lan-
guage classes.

the success of the group has been an 
inspiration for some of the other work 
foundation house is undertaking with 
older people. 
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rural and regional services
iN 2012-13 there continued to be significant settlement in rural 
and regional Victoria, with 15% of newly arriving humanitarian 
entrants, or those granted permanent protection visas, settled in 
these areas. Many asylum seekers have also found their way to 
rural and regional Victoria, including those in community detention 
and on Bridging Visa E. 

The most significant numbers of people settled in Geelong, 
Shepparton and Mildura and Foundation House was very pleased 
to be able to roll-out a mental health funded pilot program in these 
three areas in 2012–13. in Shepparton and Geelong this new 
funding provided capacity to engage bi-cultural workers, providing the 
opportunity for a greater focus on group work and community based 
interventions (see the Afghan Men’s Cooking Group next page). This 
funding also provided additional Counsellor Advocacy capacity across 
the three regional centres. The 2013-14 budget announcement by 
Hon Mary Wooldridge of continued funding for these services over 
the next four years was very welcome.

supporting rural 
and regional 

schools

FOundatiOn HOuse schools’ work (see 
page 10) operates in rural and regional 

areas as well as metropolitan locations.  with 
the settlement of families of refugee back-
ground in Bendigo, we are pleased that the  
schools’ Refugee Education Support Program 
(resP) is currently operating in Bendigo and 
that seven enthusiastic schools have joined the 
program. Bendigo schools continue to seek 
ways to support the growing enrolment of 
karen students and, in 2013, the enrolment of 
students from afghanistan and iran.  

many of the schools involved in ‘reSp 
Bendigo’ present a well established well-be-
ing base for their work, which is evidenced 
in their will to include, support and encour-
age their newly arrived students of refugee 
background. Current commitment to build-
ing capacity for such work sees schools en-
deavouring to create supportive enrolment 
and transition policies and practice, to 
develop skill in the use of interpreters, and 
to develop empowering communication 
processes with the newly arrived families. 
the Bendigo schools’ refugee action teams 
support and encourage each other at reSp 
professional learning and Workshop days 
which are held at deeCd in Bendigo. in 
working with the Bendigo schools to build a 
whole school approach to supporting refugee 
background students and their families, our 
foundation house Schools team is working 
alongside the education department 
(deeCd) and the Centre for multicultural 
youth.

one of our Service innovation programs 
current projects, “relationships enhancing 
access to learning” (r.e.a.l.), is also being 
piloted in regional Victoria with liddiard 
road primary School traralgon  being one 
of the five schools invited to participate. 
the project is designed to support parent 
engagement in students’ learning, and build 
stronger partnerships with schools and 
families. in traralgon, this is involving the 
Southern Sudanese Community. liddiard 
road pS was a participating school in the first 
regional refugee action network (latrobe 
Valley ran) in 2009-10 and has responded 
positively to working with us again through 
the r.e.a.l. project in 2013.  

in 2012-13 we partnered with the 
following agencies to provide torture 
and trauma counselling services in rural 
and regional Victoria:
•	 Ballarat Community health Centre
•	 Bendigo Community health Services
•	 Glastonbury Community Services in 

Geelong
•	 latrobe Community health Service in 

the latrobe Valley

•	 primary Care Connect in Shepparton
•	 Sunraysia Community health 

Services in mildura
•	 Swan hill district health

in addition, we have worked in a 
number of other rural and regional 
centres with significant refugee 
background populations, including 
nhill and Wodonga. 

{ {Working in rural and regional areas}}
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{ {Working in rural and regional areas}} 

wHen BiCuLturaL 
worker Vajiheh Mohseni 

began her cooking group for 
afghan men in Geelong, even 
she was surprised at the range 
of positive responses.

‘it was very much more than cooking!’ 
she said.

Vajiheh is funded by foundation 
house for two days a week at Geelong’s 
Glastonbury Community Service. 

She began the cooking classes partly 
out of concern that a lack of food prepa-
ration skills was leading to digestive 
and nutritional problems for the men. 
participants were men she had worked 
with, or who were referred from settle-
ment workers. there was a mix of older 
and younger men. 

‘i tried to pick up people who were other-
wise at home all day,’ said Vajiheh, based on 
her experience that people unable to work 
or attend classes were at the highest risk of 
becoming disengaged and depressed.

Vajiheh’s mother was called in to assist, 
and the program was planned to run with a 
small group of six to eight.

not only were the participants highly 
enthusiastic about learning cooking skills, 
but a range of other benefits soon emerged. 
the smells and flavours of traditional 
dishes were powerful reminders of home, 

of their families and mothers, and of their 
traditional celebrations. 

‘While we were waiting for the food to 
cook, there was talking and singing, little 
jokes,’ said Vajiheh. there were exchang-
es of stories, and people brought along 
puzzles and poems.

the group ran from a small kitchen at 
diversitat, a large settlement service which 
had the benefit of being familiar to the 
participants. however, there was no room 
for the men to sit and eat, and Vajiheh ini-
tially expected the men would take the food 
home with them. But rather than eat alone, 
they preferred to stand around the kitchen 
so they could eat together.

Snezana Krstic, Cald team leader 
of torture and trauma Counselling at 
Glastonbury, said: ‘Some people wonder 
how cooking is related to mental health. 
But the group became a favourite gathering 
place for men who felt a bond and camara-
derie with others in similar circumstances. 
there was laughter, joy and feelings of 
belonging.’

there were other unexpected benefits. 

‘i think the men now appreci-
ate what their daughters and 
wives have been doing!’ 
Vajiheh laughs.

Word spread, and more 
men wanted to join the group 

than there was room for in the tiny kitchen. 
after the two original sets of classes, there 
was enough demand for Vajiheh to run the 
program again, and she is now looking at 
further groups, perhaps for other demo-
graphics such as young women. 

Vajiheh’s innovative approach also in-
cludes organising a program in afghani 
community languages with the Geelong 
community radio station, 94.7fm. She felt 
this was an important means of connecting 
to the community, especially to people who 
were not literate, or were housebound. 

the counselling team at Glastonbury 
say that Vajiheh is a wonderful resource 
in terms of understanding afghan culture, 
and for engaging vulnerable clients, as the 
afghani community in Greater Geelong 
continues to grow. 

the impact of this work on mental health 
has been formally recognised, with Vajiheh 
being nominated for a 2013 Barwon mental 
health Week Wellbeing awards. She has 
also received an award for her work from 
the afghan community itself, in recogni-
tion of her contribution.  

~{ Much more than cooking }~
the GeelonG afGhan men’S Group

“While we were waiting for the food to cook, 
there was talking and singing, little jokes”
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iN 1987, JOHN GiBSON put pen to paper—literally—to sketch 
a detailed plan for the establishment of a new agency to assist 
survivors of torture living in Victoria. One of the functions he 
identified was “sensitisation of mainstream services” to the 
particular needs of this population. John’s document is now on 
display at our Brunswick office, in a room named in his honour after 
his death in 2012.

advisory Boards

foundation house staff provides expertise 
to a number of advisory Boards:

Minister’s Council on asylum seekers 
and detention 
mCaSd is an advisory council to the 
minister for immigration which provides 
advice on immigration status for people 
seeking migration to australia. 

foundation house director paris 
aristotle chairs this Council.

Police and Community Multicultural 
advisory Committee (PaCMaC)
paCmaC acts as an advisory body 
to Victoria police, government and 
the community on issues relating to 
multiculturalism and to contribute to 
the promotion and maintenance of 
harmonious relations between police and 
multicultural communities.

during the past year foundation house 
has been represented by ida Kaplan and 
mardi Stow successively.

the refugee resettlement advisory 
Council 
the refugee resettlement advisory 
Council (rraC) is a ministerially-
appointed body that provides advice to the 
government on refugee and humanitarian 
settlement. 

foundation house has been 
represented by paris aristotle.

Onshore Protection Consultative Group 
this group was established by the 
department of immigration and 
Citizenship in 2008 to engage key external 
stakeholders in the development and 
improvement of processes and procedures 
relating to onshore protection in australia. 

foundation house has been 
represented by paris aristotle and Josef 
Szwarc.

department of Human services refugee 
Minor Program reference Group 
foundation house has been represented 
by roslyn leary. 

the Migration review tribunal –  
refugee review tribunal Community 
Liaison program
the migration review tribunal (mrt) and 
refugee review tribunal (rrt) provide 
final merits review of visa decisions made 
by the department of immigration and 
Citizenship. the Community liaison 
program is a forum for information 
distribution and discussion about the 
processes, caseloads, relevant legislative 
and other developments of the tribunals.

foundation house has been 
represented by ida Kaplan.

Multicultural advisory Committee for 
Centrelink staff
foundation house has been represented 
by roslyn leary.

dept. of Health Victorian refugee health 
and wellbeing strategy advisory group
foundation house has been represented 
by Sue Casey.  

{ {Promoting responsive services}}

The Forum of 
Australian Services 
for Survivors of 
Torture and Trauma 
(FASSTT) is the 
national network 
of organisations 
such as Foundation 
House which work 
with survivors of 
torture.

This year FASSTT 
produced a poster to 
celebrate Australia’s 
support for, and 
contribution to, 
the United Nations 
Convention Against 
Torture. The poster also aims to focus 
public awareness on broad refugee 
human rights issues and to sharpen 
focus on the moral issue of the right to 
rehabilitation.

Copies are available from 
Foundation House, or from Paula 
Peterson, National Coordinator of 
FASSTT at paulapeterson@qpastt.org.
au, or phone 07 33916677.

true to the ideas of John and his 
fellow founders who made the vision a 
reality, promoting the development and 
implementation of policies, programs and 
services that are responsive to the needs of 
survivors of torture has been a core activity 
since foundation house was established.

Spirit is stronger than force, which we 
published in 1993, identified “public 
advocacy” as a key service, which it de-
scribed as follows: “Workers at the 
foundation consult with and lobby gov-
ernments and other agencies to achieve 
the sort of changes that are necessary to 
cater for the needs of survivors of torture 
and trauma.” today, one of our guiding 
principles states that while the agency is 
not politically aligned, “VfSt will advo-
cate for policies that promote the health, 

wellbeing and human rights of refugees 
and asylum seekers…”

our activities to ensure responsive and 
effective public policies and mainstream 
services are undertaken in a variety of 
ways and contexts including:
•	 research and policy work
•	 offering learning and professional 

development to the broader sector
•	 Supporting the refugee health 

network
•	 Counsellor advocates’ representations 

to services, to assist clients with 
concerns such as housing and welfare 
(pp. 4-7)

•	 the Schools program (p.10)
•	 health Sector development (pp.22-24)
•	 membership of advisory bodies by 

Ceo paris aristotle and other staff.

mailto:paulapeterson@qpastt.org.au
mailto:paulapeterson@qpastt.org.au
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{ {Promoting responsive services}}

young people 
accessing mental 
health services: 
Project tyres

tHe PrOJeCt Having a baby in a new 
country: the experience of Afghan fami-

lies was undertaken because there is little 
evidence available about the experiences 
and expectations of women and men from 
refugee backgrounds at the time of having 
a baby in australia. the project is a part-
nership between Foundation House and 
Murdoch Childrens research institute. 

We decided to focus on one commu-
nity, those of afghan origin, because it 
was a relatively small study and we were 
mindful that the important issues affect-
ing parents include cultural and faith 
background and social context. a much 
larger project would be required to explore 
in detail the experiences of parents from 

multiple groups.
the project had three components:

•	 Consultation with afghan women and 
men to give them an opportunity to 
shape the research;

•	 interviews with afghan women and 
men who had recently had a baby in 
australia; and

•	 interviews with local health 
professionals about their experiences 
of working with people of refugee 
backgrounds and how services do, and 
might, respond to any challenges that 
arise.
a report of the study is being finalised 

and the findings will be widely dissemi-
nated in 2013-2014.  

Having a baby in a new country 

Policy and research

researCH Has Been an important 
tool to assemble evidence about bar-

riers to, and facilitators of, accessible and 
responsive services which can be used to 
support our policy work.

foundation house research activities 
were given a major boost in 2008 when the 
Sidney myer fund and William Buckland 
foundation provided major grants over 
five years for foundation house to estab-
lish a refugee health and social wellbeing 
research program. the main objectives of 
the work for which the grants were made 
included provide evidence-based research 

for the planning and development of 
foundation house and mainstream ser-
vices that improve the outcomes of refugee 
children, young people and their fami-
lies, and assisting mainstream services 
to improve their services for people of 
refugee backgrounds.

the funding allowed foundation 
house to establish its research and policy 
program which has undertaken a range 
of projects, a number in partnership with 
external parties. the major projects under-
taken during 2012-2013 are detailed in the 
following pages.  

eVidenCe suGGests that young 
people from refugee backgrounds use 

mental health services at a lower rate than 
other young people, although their need 
for such services may be as great or greater. 
while researchers have put forth possible 
reasons for these barriers to service utilisa-
tion, there have been no systematic studies 
asking young service users from refugee 
backgrounds about their experiences of 
seeing mental health professionals. 

project tyreS—“talking with young 
refugees about experiences of Services”—
aims to give voice to young people about 
their experiences of services. Sixteen in-
depth interviews have been conducted 
with young people of diverse backgrounds, 
seeking their views about pathways to care 
and the barriers and facilitators to accessing 
services and engaging with professionals. 

the young people spoke insightfully 
about a range of issues including their 
pre-conceptions about talking to a mental 
health practitioner, as captured in this 
comment:

“at first i was afraid and in shock, and 
like ‘why i go to the counsellor’ because, 
you know, in my country just the crazies 
[laughing] went … i was asking myself, ‘did 
i crazy, am i crazy?!’ … i was un-believe that 
i will talk! … when i talk to her i feel confi-
dent, directly, at the first day. and i’ve been 
talking, talking for two hours without stop, 
like i’m booming, booming ...Booming 
like a boom! ... actually it was really good, 
because i find someone to listen”.

the findings suggest that there are both 
areas of similarity and difference with the 
way services are experienced by non-refu-
gee youth.

the findings are being documented and 
communicated to policy makers, service 
providers and health professionals.  
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tHe FOundatiOn HOuse research 
report Promoting the Engagement of  

Interpreters in Victorian Health Services 
was launched on 25 June 2013.

the research arose from an awareness 
among refugee health workers of the dis-
junction between the high importance of 
clear communication in medical settings, 
and the limited use of interpreting services 
within these settings.

the study examined a range of evidence 
about the barriers to, and facilitators of, the 
engagement of interpreters as experienced 
by the health sector and its practitioners.

the report makes a series of recommen-
dations which include:
•	a number of standards, policies and 

laws need strengthening to reflect 
contemporary practice and risk profiles. 

•	there is a need for access to fee-free 
interpreting for Commonwealth funded 
programs under mBS, and the recently 
introduced dental health reform 
package. 

•	Shortfalls in interpreter funding for state 
funded services need to be made up. 

•	funding for interpreting services 
needs to be made sustainable. all new 
funding for state government services 
should account for the need to include 
commensurate interpreting dollars. in 
relation to hospital funding, the report 
recommends that the new independent 
hospital pricing authority national 
pricing formula (national efficient price) 
take account of interpreting services 
provision.

•	further investment in service 
efficiency and effectiveness by state 
government and hospitals, including: 
interpreter service delivery models; 
areas of unpredictable demand such 

as emergency departments; trialling 
service improvements; and further study 
into the benefits of effective interpreter 
use.

•	 exploring potential areas for 
development such as telehealth or 
other videoconferencing to provide 
a mechanism for better access to 
interpreters in both metropolitan and 
rural and regional Victoria, potentially as 
an alternative to face to face interpreting 
in some settings. 

•	 education of health professionals in use 
of interpreters. Currently only around 
50% of entry level qualifications provide 
training for health professionals in 
working with interpreters when seeing 
clients with low english proficiency.

a key recommendation of this report is 
that the Commonwealth Government 
should lead a broad review to ensure that 
australia has an interpreting and translat-
ing workforce and industry to sustainably 
meet current and projected requirements 
for language services in key areas of gov-
ernment responsibility. the Victorian 
Government has done substantial work in 
this area, but a number of the inter-related 
issues require a national lens, to which 
Victoria is well placed to make a funda-
mental contribution.

the report is available from our 
website www.foundationhouse.org.au under 
resources. 

Promoting the engagement of interpreters 
in Victorian Health services

research partnerships

a number of research projects have 
been undertaken in partnership with 
other institutions, in particular:

accessing maternal and child health 
services 
this project was undertaken with staff 
of the Jack Brockhoff Child health and 
Wellbeing program, the mcCaughey 
Centre, the university of melbourne – 
in particular dr elisha riggs, dr elise 
davis, dr lisa Gibbs, Karen Block and 
professor elizabeth Waters.

Having a baby in a new country
this project was undertaken with staff 
of the healthy mothers healthy families 
research Group, murdoch Childrens 
research institute, in particular dr Jane 
yelland, dr elisha riggs,  Sayed Wahidi, 
fatema fouladi and associate professor 
Stephanie Brown.

tracking the wellbeing, worries and 
coping styles of children and young 
people from refugee backgrounds
this project was undertaken with staff 
of the School of psychological Sciences,  
associate professor Jeanette lawrence 
and ms amy Collard.

foundation house is also a partner in 
two studies led by other institutions:
•	Bridging the Gap – a study designed 

to build organisational and system 
capacity to address identified gaps and 
inequities in maternal and child health 
care for refugee families. the study is 
led by murdoch Childrens research 
institute and partner organisations 
include: Southern health, Sunshine 
hospital, maternal and Child health 
services in the Cities of Greater 
dandenong and Wyndham, medicare 
locals in each region and the Victorian 
department of health. the project has 
received a national health and medical 
research Council grant.

•	Project Ripple – development, 
implementation and evaluation of 
a mental health intervention that 
supports carers in providing consistent 
and high quality psychosocial care for 
young people living in out of home 
care. the project is led by orygen 
youth health and the partners include 
royal Childrens hospital, the youth 
Support and advocacy Service, take 
two, Centre for multicultural youth 
and the Victorian aboriginal Child 
Care agency.  

 > the report was launched by Adjunct 
professor John Murtagh at foundation 
house on 25 June 2013. L-r – health 
Sector Development Manager Sue casey, 
policy and research officer rachel 
vanstone, professor Murtagh, and policy 
and research Manager Jo Szwarc.

http://www.foundationhouse.org.au
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tHe ViCtOrian reFuGee Health 
network is auspiced by Foundation 

House, and provides a unique forum to 
bring together primary and specialist ser-
vices, government departments, settle-
ment and asylum seeker 
support agencies to iden-
tify and address refugee 
and asylum seeker health 
issues. we are very pleased 
with the announcement 
by the Hon david davis, 
Victorian Minister for 
Health, in the 2013–14 state 
Budget of funding over the 
next four years to support 
the work of the network .

the work of the network 
is guided by a reference Group. this 
year, lenora lippmann, General practice 
Victoria, resigned from the position 
of chair. We thank lenora for her wise 
guidance as Chair since march 2011. 
We welcomed dr Georgia paxton, head 
immigrant health, royal Children’s 
hospital as the new network Chair. 
Georgia is a leader in paediatric refugee 
health in australia. 

a key focus of the year was working 
with health and case work support servic-
es to provide an integrated response to the 
health needs of asylum seekers being re-
leased from detention. this included: the 
production of resources for health services 
about various entitlements, bringing to-
gether health service providers to problem 
solve, and the introduction of an asylum 
Seeker health orientation and triage 
program for people being released from 
detention on Bridging Visas to the north 
West metropolitan region of melbourne 
(see next page).

the network has provided advice to the 
hon david davis and the department of 
health in the development of a refugee 
health strategy.

other activity in the year included:
•	 the primary Care working group 

considered a range of issues, including 
preparation of resources on post-
polio syndrome and provided advice 
to medicare locals for population 
planning

•	 Sexual & reproductive health project 
work continued with partners Centre for 
ethnicity & health and family planning 
Victoria

•	 partnerships in the research project 

Having a baby in a new country (with 
murdoch Children’s research institute) 
(see page 22)

•	 the successful launch of Promoting the 
engagement of interpreters in Victorian 

health services, (see 
page 22) and follow 
up of the report’s 
recommendations, 
including convening two 
roundtables with key 
stakeholders in march 
and august 2013
•	further work was 
undertaken to progress 
the refugee oral 
health model of Care in 

Victorian refugee Health network

partnership with dental health Services 
Victoria;

•	 partnership with hepatitis B alliance to 
produce a fact sheet on hepatitis B

•	 hosting a face to face meeting of the 
refugee health network of australia 
(rheana)

•	 Growing the popularity of our website, 
which provides key health information 
to the refugee health sector. in June 
2013 there were an average of 245 
visitors per day

•	 delivering a high quality monthly 
e-bulletin directly to the mailbox of 750 
subscribers.

•	 hosting students from la trobe 
university and deakin university. 

Learning and Professional development 
Program

2012-13 Has Been another busy year 
for the Learning and Professional 

development program, with 5247 partici-
pants from education, health and commu-
nity services attending 243 sessions. 

the learning and professional 
development program has developed 
over many years and gone from strength 
to strength. We now have on-line book-
ings and a number of other back of 
house functions leading to greater effi-
ciencies. there has been a greater em-
phasis on one, two and sometimes three 
day programs, this has provided the op-
portunity to focus on both organisation-
al change as well as professional skills 
development.

Some highlights of the year include:
•	 a second three day course for oral 

health services, this time with Southern 
health, this complements broader work 
with dental health Services Victoria in 
developing a model of care for refugees 
and asylum seekers. We also undertook 
some professional development with 
the outreach services at the australian 
College of optometry;

•	 a partnership with australian red 
Cross to deliver training for their 
caseworkers on the impact of torture 
and other forms of trauma;

•	 a two day course for counsellors, with 
Casey-Cardinia community health 
counsellors—a similar course is being 

run with community health counsellors 
in the north & West in 2013-14;

•	 an increasing number of requests 
for professional development from 
agencies that are working with young 
people who are homeless;

•	 Continuing our very successful 
professional development series for 
nurses, and the continuation of the 
post-graduate nursing unit in refugee 
health at monash university;

•	 provision of professional development 
for melaleuca staff in darwin. in 
2013-14 we have had requests from two 
other faStt agencies in Queensland 
and Canberra.

•	 Continued focus on training for mental 
health services. VfSt has entered into 
a memorandum of understanding 
with royal Children’s hospital mental 
health Services to consider ways of 
improving service access to refugee 
background children and their families, 
and is working with monash early in 
life mental health Services to deliver 
professional development to youth 
services in the dandenong area;

•	 We continue our commitment to 
provide training for volunteers in a 
number of settings.

in late 2013, we are planning a program 
review to help set the directions for 
further program development in 2014 and 
beyond. 
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OVer 850 asyLuM seekers 
recently released from de-

tention have attended the Health 
Orientation & triage (HOt) ses-
sions in the north and 
west of Melbourne. these 
sessions provide partici-
pants with the opportunity 
to learn about the Victorian 
health system, and to be re-
ferred to appropriate health 
services where necessary. 

the program was ini-
tially led by the Statewide 
refugee health nurse 
facilitator, supported by 
refugee health nurses 
from Western region 
health Centre, doutta 
Galla Community health 
Service, iSiS primary 
care, dianella and darebin 
Community health 
service, and the Victorian refugee 
health network project worker, 
and was organised in partnership 
with the red Cross. the program 
therefore provides an example of 
a number of different agencies 
working successfully together to meet a 
clear need.

the health orientation and triage ses-
sions are run from various central locations, 
such as community halls. refugee health 
nurses meet with people to discuss pre-
senting health concerns and review their 
medical discharge information from deten-
tion. a Gp is part of the team to provide 
medical services when required, includ-
ing reviewing medication and assessing 
serious health concerns, and if necessary, 

Foundation House staff raise funds for international projects

immediate referral. health information ses-
sions are delivered with interpreters in rel-
evant languages. the need for this sort of 
service response has been evidenced by the 
range of health issues that people are pre-
senting with, and the referrals required for 
follow-up care.

the concept of a triage program was 
initially developed in the South east. in 
august 2012, the South east medicare 
local, australian red Cross and monash 
health established such a program for 

people being released from deten-
tion and seeking services from 
the doveton Clinic. the demand 
for services was such that a new 

model needed to be 
developed. 

the reference Group 
of the Victorian refugee 
health network, based at 
foundation house, had 
advice from case work 
support agencies that 
many clients were living 
in the north and West 
metropolitan melbourne, 
particularly in the early 
period following release 
from detention. the 
network initiated discus-
sions on a similar service 
for the north and west. 
a formal partnership 
was established, initially 

with red Cross and Community 
health Services, and now also 
with ameS. northern melbourne 
medicare local and inner north 
West melbourne medicare 
local provided funding for Co-

ordination and administrative support for a 
period of six months—this role has been un-
dertaken by Western region health Centre.

the program needed to adapt over time. 
for example there are now increasing 
numbers of families being seen, including 
women requiring referral for maternity care.

the network is undertaking an evalua-
tion of the program, supported by a masters 
of public health student from la trobe 
university who will be undertaking the data 
analysis.  

~{ Partnerships in action }~
h e a lt h  o r i e n t a t i o n 

a n d  t r i a G e  p r o G r a m

Char Horish

tHis year FOundatiOn HOuse 
staff have raised over $6000 for the Char 
horish school in Bangladesh. foundation 
house staff have been supporting Char 
horish since 2006, including raising the 
funds to build the school. Staff now hold 
annual events, including a popular film 
night, raffles and dinners, to support its 
ongoing classes for girls and boys, with 
funds raised going towards paying teach-
ers and providing books and stationery. 

kesan

in June tHe naturaL tHeraPies 
team held a fundraiser for KeSan (the 
Karen environmental and Social action 
network), raising $1000 to go towards 
reprinting a Karen-Burmese traditional 
medicine handbook. traditionally rural 
Karen communities use herbal medicines 
extensively, and many Karen people who 
use herbal medicines do not have regular 
access to Western medicine. the book aims 
to help Karen people living in Burma and 

on the thai-Burma border to identify and 
use locally grown plants as herbal medicines 
for common health complaints. as well 
as preserving Karen traditional knowledge 
and culture, this community development 
project is linked to preserving forested areas 
of land where the medicinal plants grow. in 
July, Jenny adams from the natural thera-
pies team personally delivered the money 
from the fundraiser to the very appreciative 
KeSan crew in Chiang mai, thailand. 

 > partners (from left to right) Jamad hersi, Admin Assistant 
health orientation and triage project, Lindy Marlow, State 

Wide refugee nurses coordinator, Kim McGuiness, refugee 
health nurse ISIS community health, Bernice Murphy, 

coordinator health orientation triage project. 
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VFst institutional ethics Committee:
•	 father andrew hamilton
•	 professor helen herrman
•	 Jill Jameson
•	 dr.Caroline lambert
•	 david manne 
•	 dr mary o’Brien
•	 dr dick Sloman 
•	 Joe Zaia (resigned July 2013)

research sub-Committee:
•	 dr david Corlett
•	 associate professor Jeanette lawrence
•	 dr raelene Wilding

a final word…

it is not possible to list all the 
individuals and organisations who make 
contributions, large and small, to the 
work of foundation house. many are 
listed here and on the following pages, 
but others include our colleagues in the 
refugee, health, education and community 
sectors, our Brunswick office neighbours 
— the Bouverie Centre and milparinka, 
our supporters at all levels of government, 
our contractors and suppliers, and all the 
people who provide valuable expertise, 
feedback and input into our programs and 
services in many ways.

to those organisation and individuals, 
please accept our warm and sincere thanks 
for your support during the past year. 

most of all, we would like to thank 
our clients for their courage and for the 
inspiration they provide to all of us, every 
day.  

•	 portland house foundation
•	 mr andrew reeves
•	 SKar foundation
•	 Sidney myer fund 
•	 6a foundation
•	 mr Victor and mrs fleur Spitzer
•	 St monica’s College
•	 tan family foundation
•	 William Buckland foundation
donations were also made by a number 
of generous individuals throughout the 
year; big or small, every donation helps us 
maintain, improve and expand the services 
we provide to our clients, their families 
and their communities. 

in-kind support and services
•	 andrew demetriou, australian football 

league 
arts access

•	 Circus oz 
•	 integria (mediherb)
•	 Geneveive timmons, VfSt ambassador
•	 Glenn hester, Glenn hester 

photography
•	 margaret Wehl and family
•	 Southern light herbs
•	 unhCr regional office Canberra
•	 presentation family Centre
•	 mestre roxinho 
•	 fabrice Ginape
•	 mehro amiri

Businesses providing employment 
opportunities and mentoring support 
for ucan2

•	 australia post
•	 Coles
•	 holman, fenwick and Willan
•	 Kmart
•	 Woolworths

tHe ViCtOrian Foundation for 
survivors of torture continues 

to assist individuals, families and 
communities from refugee and refugee-
like backgrounds to rebuild their 
lives in australia. we do this with the 
support of a number of organisations, 
groups and individuals. in addition to 
financial support, Foundation House 
and its clients benefit from a range of 
in-kind and pro bono assistance. this 
support is invaluable, we appreciate the 
assistance and we value these important 
relationships. 

foundation house would like to 
acknowledge the support of the following 
organisations and individuals.

Funding – government
•	 Commonwealth department of health 

and ageing
•	 Commonwealth department of 

immigration and Citizenship
•	 Victorian department of education and 

early Childhood development
•	 Victorian department of health
•	 Victorian multicultural Commission

Other Funding
•	 adult multicultural education Services
•	 anna Wearne trust
•	 australian Communities foundation
•	 australian red Cross
•	 australian unity 
•	 australia post
•	 mr david Baker
•	 Barr family foundation
•	 Caroline durré foundation
•	 Catholic education office
•	 City of Greater dandenong
•	 dara foundation
•	 five Boroughs
•	 highlands foundation
•	 hugh Williamson foundation
•	 the Jack and hedy Brent foundation 
•	 ms margaret Johnson 
•	 Kiwanis Club of Brighton
•	 lord mayor’s Charitable foundation
•	 lyngala foundation
•	 magistrates’ Court of Victoria
•	 mr. ian mcKenzie 
•	 mcleod family foundation
•	 nib foundation
•	 northern melbourne medicare local ltd
•	 professor emeritus david penington aC

{ {Our organisation}}

thank you 

 > fun at the 2012 Dandenong foundation house end of year party. 
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Board of 
Management

•	 Lynne Haultain 
(Chair)

•	 david Bilander 
(deputy Chair)  

•	 Michelle Groves 
(secretary) 

•	 richard Home 
(treasurer) 

•	 karen McLeod adair 
•	 Helen Casey 
•	 ian Mckenzie
•	 dick sloman 
•	 shyla Vohra (from 12 

March 2013)
•	 Lenora Lippmann 

(until 13 June 2013) 
•	 Genevieve timmons 

(until 2 October 2012)

Foundation 
House agency 

Management team

•	 paris aristotle am
•	 Sue Casey
•	 david Gorrie
•	 lew hess
•	 ida Kaplan
•	 roslyn leary
•	 Chris pierson
•	 mardi Stow
•	 Jo Szwarc

Our staff
(1 July 2012 –  
30 June 2013)

•	 adriana mendieta
•	 agnes yousif
•	 ainslie  hannan
•	 david Gorrie
•	 amy Camilleri
•	 andrea Stewart
•	 andrew Kalon
•	 angela Woodburn
•	 anita Biesheuvel
•	 ann marsh
•	 anne Clifford
•	 anne mullarvey
•	 anne o’Connor
•	 annerose reiner
•	 elvira Sotelo
•	 aphrodite mcGregor
•	 arna Stewart
•	 Baan petros
•	 Bernard farrell
•	 Bernard o’rourke
•	 Birat Sharma
•	 Briele hansen
•	 Bruce eady
•	 Caroline Baker
•	 Carolyn Wilson
•	 Catherine Smith
•	 Cecilia Clarke
•	 Chris pierson
•	 Chris hortin
•	 Christina pitter

•	 Christine Bakopanos
•	 Christine nathan
•	 Kelly doyle
•	 Claire priestley
•	 Clara harper
•	 Clare lincoln
•	 Claudia thoms
•	 Colleen mcfarlane
•	 Connie Crowe
•	 Conrad aikin
•	 Corinne marcello
•	 Cristina Wlasiuk
•	 dimitra Cromdos
•	 dina Korkees
•	 donna Chesters
•	 liz alexander
•	 elizabeth hess
•	 Babette Sabella
•	 eric Brunet
•	 erin hughes
•	 farida Bezhan
•	 fazela tahery
•	 felicity elkiana
•	 fiona lorrimar
•	 fritha melville
•	 Gautam Gurung
•	 Geoff Buckley
•	 Georgia phillips
•	 Gillian Kerr
•	 Ginger ekselman
•	 Giovanna Citta
•	 Graciela lopez
•	 Guy Coffey

•	 hala Chamas
•	 John haddad
•	 heidi Wegner
•	 helen lacey
•	 hien Bui
•	 iamir maloka
•	 ida Kaplan
•	 Jacinta Craven
•	 Jacob haweil
•	 Jacqueline hoggart
•	 Jacqueline robson
•	 Jane Grant
•	 Jane ellis
•	 Janet Glover
•	 Janina munneke
•	 Jan Borrell
•	 Jasmina mulugeta
•	 Jaweed mohammadi
•	 Jeanette Vadala
•	 Jenny mitchell
•	 Jen adams
•	 Jenny addy
•	 Jess Krummel
•	 John Belieu
•	 Josef Szwarc
•	 Joyce Sadia-peter
•	 Julia htoo
•	 Julia doherty
•	 Kath Cooney
•	 Kathryn parle
•	 Kerry munnery
•	 Khalilur hamid
•	 Kriss Karaiskos

•	 Kristina mcConchie
•	 Kristine Balfour
•	 Kudzanayi Chirenje
•	 leesl Wegner
•	 lesley mcleod
•	 lew hess
•	 lileyan eilia
•	 luisa Capasso
•	 luke neeson
•	 madeleine Valibhoy
•	 manny Bonnici
•	 mardi Stow
•	 margy Carney
•	 maria tucci
•	 marilyn magno
•	 mary read
•	 mary utter
•	 matthew teran
•	 maureen o’Keefe
•	 may maloney
•	 michael Bromhead
•	 michelle hunter
•	 miranda nation
•	 morag mckillop
•	 Chitlu Wyn
•	 nadine Chamas
•	 najla naier
•	 natasa Cordasic
•	 nyakong twang
•	 olivia Kamashazi
•	 paris aristotle
•	 parwin miazoi
•	 paulette d’argent

Foundation House Management and staff

 > foundation house ceo paris Aristotle (front row, second from left) with the Board of Management.
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Board of Management

 > Just some of foundation house staff, as at october 2012

•	 philippa duell-piening
•	 philippa newton
•	 pina Garasi
•	 rachel Vanstone
•	 radhika Santhanam
•	 rebecca Cole
•	 rebekah oppenheim
•	 rose harper
•	 roslyn leary
•	 Sabahete flamuri
•	 Salam dankha
•	 Samantha mcGuffie
•	 Samantha dennis
•	 Samiya Kako
•	 Sandra howlett
•	 Sanjai Kissun
•	 Sara aryal
•	 Sarah Berberi
•	 Sarah macwilliams
•	 Saw Shwe
•	 Sayed Wahidi
•	 Serena everill
•	 Sharon Guo
•	 Sharrin murphy
•	 Shelley Cook

Policy and 
Research

Northern  
Region
•	 Counselling
•	 Comple-

mentary	
Therapies

•	 Capacity	
Building

Direct Services Agency  
Operations

Service Innovation Program Health Sector Development

CEO

South East  
Region
•	 Counselling
•	 Comple-

mentary	
Therapies

•	 Capacity	
Building

Western 

Region 

•	 Counselling
•	 Comple-

mentary	
Therapies

•	 Capacity	
Building

Mental 
Health 
Clinic

Schools 
Support 
Program

Ucan2 Family 
Strength-
ening

Rural and 
Regional 
Program

Refugee 
Health 
Network

Learning 
& Profess-
ional  
Develop- 
ment

•	 Simone Schuetz
•	 Siobhan o’mara
•	 Sophie Cavanagh
•	 Sophie harvey
•	 Stephanie Schweininger
•	 Susan George
•	 Susie Strehlow
•	 Sue Casey
•	 Susannah tipping
•	 Sue liddelow
•	 tania herbert
•	 thataw Kunoo
•	 therese meehan
•	 thuy nguyen
•	 toril pursell
•	 tracey um
•	 tun mung
•	 Victoria ajoung
•	 Wee thaw Keh
•	 Wendy Scicluna
•	 William fearnley-Sander
•	 Zakia ebrahim
•	 Zamera Shariffie

Foundation House Organisational structure

interns with 
research Program

•	 alexandra Bean
•	 Kari Gibson
•	 Clara harper
•	 lucy howard-robbins
•	 ainslie Kimber
•	 Stina Vest Stenkjaer

Complementary 
therapies volunteers

•	 alex Caldwell – 
Shiatsu therapist

•	 lester Jones –  
physiotherapist

•	 lani Kaplan –  
yoga teacher

•	 david Kelly –  
physiotherapist

english Language 
class volunteers

•	 margaret Wehl
•	 helen hanrahan
•	 anne hayman
•	 leonie Ball
•	 Jenny little

Other volunteers

•	 Sophia tipping
•	 Kiwanis  Brighton
•	 John macdonald
•	 anwen lincoln
•	 arwel lincoln 
•	 Volunteers and 

mentors for the 
ucan2 program

students

•	 evan Jureidini, 
university of 
melbourne

•	 nalini taneja, rmit
•	 Scott Ward, rmit

•	 lara Kerr, rmit
•	 maddy Barber, rmit
•	 roya Khoshmashrab, 

university of 
Queensland.

•	 maryann Barsoum, 
la trobe university

•	 Jess ng, deakin 
university

•	 robert owen, deakin 
university

•	 Jasmyn izzard, deakin 
university

•	 lauren Goldberg, 
deakin university

•	 Julie lebon, 
Chisholm tafe 

•	 Winnie pham, 
monash university

•	 Veronika 
Blumenbach, 
Swinburne university 

•	 paulette d’argent, 
rmit 
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your Board members submit the financial report of the Victorian 
foundation for Survivors of torture for the financial year ended 30 
June 2013.

Board Members
the names of Board members throughout the financial year and at 
the date of this report are:

statement of Comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Notes 2013 
$

2012 
$

revenue 2 10,751,702 10,225,118

Salaries, wages and on-costs (6,898,189) (6,574,890)

FASSTT (22,443) (46,460)

Bank and credit card charges (2,591) (3,908)

Building and occupancy costs (448,895) (383,206)

Equipment, computing / iT, supplies and 
depreciation

(97,387) (93,690)

Conferences, seminars, publications and 
professional development

(56,058) (89,711)

interpreting costs (618,890) (632,244)

Program, consultant, contractor and client 
costs

(1,178,911) (1,127,507)

Advertising, volunteer, agency and Board 
expenses

(5,981) (5,100)

Motor vehicle expenses and depreciation (331,710) (377,729)

Client travel expenses (41,726) (43,780)

Printing, stationary and postage (73,942) (210,432)

Telephone expenses (83,380) (117,494)

Professional fees (19,683) (17,561)

Research and evaluation fees (186,138) (245,541)

Other expenses (206,728) (92,286)

total expenditure (10,272,652) (10,061,539)

operating surplus before income tax 3 479,050 163,579

income tax 1(a) — —

Surplus for the year 479,050 163,579

Other comprehensive income, net of tax — —

Total comprehensive income for the period 479,050 163,579

statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2013

Notes 2013 
$

2012 
$

cUrrent ASSetS

Cash and cash equivalents 5 1,144,245 170,416

Term deposits 6 3,130,000 2,834,402

Trade and other receivables 7 544,236 390,912

totAL cUrrent ASSetS 4,818,481 3,395,730

non-cUrrent ASSetS

Property, plant and equipment 8 1,078,681 1,145,291

totAL non-cUrrent ASSetS 1,078,681 1,145,291

totAL ASSetS 5,897,162 4,541,021

cUrrent LIABILItIeS

Trade and other payables 9 187,480 236,697

Deferred income 1,993,740 978,864

Provisions 10 963,702 996,169

Borrowings 11 75,120 74,080

totAL cUrrent LIABILItIeS 3,220,042 2,285,810

non-cUrrent LIABILItIeS

Borrowings 11 26,460 92,380

Provisions 10 240,282 231,503

totAL non-cUrrent LIABILItIeS 266,742 323,883

totAL LIABILItIeS 3,486,784 2,609,693

net ASSetS 2,410,378 1,931,328

eQUItY

Retained earnings 12 1,517,335 1,517,335

General Reserve 13 893,043 413,993

totAL eQUItY 2,410,378 1,931,328

•	 lynne haultain
•	 helen Casey 
•	 michelle Groves 
•	 Genevieve timmons (resigned 

on 2 october 2012)
•	 dick Sloman 
•	 david Bilander 

•	 ian mcKenzie 
•	 lenora lippman (resigned on 

13 June 2013)
•	 richard home
•	 Karen mcleod adair
•	 Shyla Vohra (appointed on 12 

march 2013)

Principal activities
the principal activity of the association is to provide a range of support 
services to the survivors of torture who currently reside in Victoria. 

Operating result
the surplus amounted to $479,050 (2012: Surplus $163,579).

after Balance date events
no matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the 
financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect 
the operations of the association, the results of those operations, 
or the state of affairs of the association in future financial years. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the members of the Board:

richard home
treasurer
8 october 2013

Financial report
FOr tHe year ended 30 June 2013

tHe ViCtOrian FOundatiOn FOr surViVOrs OF tOrture
ABN: 52 783 974 656
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statement of Changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Notes 2013 
$

2012 
$

retained earnings

Opening balance 1,517,335 1,517,335

Total comprehensive income for the period 479,050 163,579

Transfer to general reserve (479,050) (163,579)

closing Balance 12 1,517,335 1,517,335

General reserve

Opening reserves 413,993 250,414

Transfers from accumulated surplus 479,050 163,579

closing Balance 13 893,043 413,993

total equity at year end 2,410,378 1,931,328

statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Notes 2013 
$

2012 
$

cASh fLoW froM operAtInG ActIvItIeS

Receipts from funding sources and operations 11,371,534 10,336,728

Payments to consultants, suppliers and 
employees

(10,120,291) (9,946,289)

interest received 247,486 237,211

Net cash provided by operating activities 14 1,498,729 627,650

cASh fLoW froM InveStInG ActIvItIeS

Payments for property, plant and equipment (170,347) (100,558)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 
equipment

21,045 66,709

Net cash used in investing activities (149,302) (33,849)

cASh fLoW froM fInAncInG ActIvItIeS

Repayment of borrowings (80,000) (80,000)

Net cash used in financing activities (80,000) (80,000)

net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,269,427 513,801

Cash at beginning of financial year 3,004,818 2,491,017

Cash at end of financial year 5 4,274,245 3,004,818

notes to the Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2013

nOte 1: stateMent OF siGniFiCant aCCOuntinG 
POLiCies
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has 
been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, 
including Australian Accounting interpretations and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the 
requirements of the Associations incorporation Act 1981 of Victoria.

The financial report covers The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of 
Torture as an individual entity. The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of 
Torture is an association incorporated and domicile in Victoria, Australia 
under the Associations incorporations Act 1981.

For the purposes of this financial report, the entity is considered to be 
a not-for-profit entity and as such has prepared this financial report with 
reference to the requirements regarding Not-For-Profits in the Australian 
Accounting Standards.

All amounts are presented in Australian dollars. The financial report 
was authorised for issue by the Board of Management on the date shown 
on the Board of Management declaration.

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies 
adopted by the association in the preparation of the financial report. The 
accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise 
stated.

notes to the Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2013 (continued)

Reporting Basis and Conventions

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based 
on historical costs modified by the revaluation of selected non-current 
assets, and financial assets and financial liabilities for which the fair 
value basis of accounting has been applied.

Significant Judgements and Key Assumptions

No significant judgements have been made in applying accounting 
policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.

No key assumptions have been made concerning the future and there 
are no other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance date 
that the Board Members consider have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.

Accounting policies

(a) Income tax

The association is exempt under Section 50-145 of the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1997.

(b) property, plant and equipment

Each class of property plant and equipment is carried at cost less, 
where applicable, any accumulated depreciation.

 Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment is carried at cost less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually 
by the association to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable 
amount of those assets. The recoverable amount is the higher of its 
fair value less costs to sell and the depreciated replacement cost.

 Depreciation

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets are depreciated over the 
useful lives of the assets to the association commencing from the 
time the asset was held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are 
amortised over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease 
or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets 
are:

class of fixed Asset Depreciation 
rates

Depreciation Basis

Building and improvements 3.7–33% Diminishing Value / Straight Line

Plant and equipment 10–33% Straight Line

Motor vehicles 27.5% Diminishing Value 

(c) Leases

Lease payments under operating leases, where substantially all the 
risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged as expenses in 
the periods in which they are incurred.

(d) employee Benefits

Provision is made for the association’s liability for employee benefits 
arising from services rendered by employees to balance date. 
Employee benefits expected to be settled within one year together 
with benefits arising from wages and salaries, and annual leave which 
will be settled after one year, have been measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liability is settled plus related on-costs. 
Other employee benefits payable later than one year have been 
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows 
to be made for those benefits.

Contributions are made by the association to an employee 
superannuation fund and are charged as expenses when incurred.
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notes to the Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2013 (continued)

(e) cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held 
at-call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments.

(f) revenue

Revenue includes revenue from services, the State and 
Commonwealth Government and other sources supported by 
community initiatives. Donations are recognised as revenue when 
received.

Grant revenue is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income when it is controlled. Where there are conditions attached 
to the grant revenue relating to the use of those grants for specific 
purposes it is recognised in the statement of financial position as a 
liability until such conditions are met or services provided.

interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into 
account the interest rates applicable to the financial assets.

Other revenue is recognised when the right to receive the revenue 
has been established.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax 
(GST).

(g) financial Assets and financial Liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the 
statement of financial position when the association becomes party 
to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to 
the cash flows from the financial assets expire or are transferred and 
no longer controlled by the entity.

A financial liability is removed from the balance sheet when the 
obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or 
expires.

(h) Borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the 
fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated 
with the borrowing. After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 
issue costs, and any discount or premium on settlement.

Gains or losses are recognised in the income statement when 
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation 
process.

(i)  General reserve

The general reserve is used from time to time to transfer surplus 
from retained earnings. There is no policy of regular transfer. it is 
used to support on going projects, provide seed funding for new 
projects and replace capital equipment.

(j) Impact of Adopting new Accounting Standards and new/
revised Accounting Standards not Yet effective 

There have been a number of amendments made to Accounting 
Standards issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(“AASB”) that are not yet effective.

The Board Members do not believe that the new and revised 
standards issued by the AASB that are not yet effective will have any 
material impact on the financial statements.

notes to the Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2013 (continued)

nOte 2: reVenue
2013 

$
2012 

$

Commonwealth Department of Health and 
Ageing

4,726,212 4,144,395

Commonwealth Department of immigration 
and Citizenship

823,152 950,819

Victorian Department of Health 2,309,725 2,013,044

Victorian Department of Education & Early 
Childhood Development 

536,810 733,133

Donations 65,556 65,272

Grants from Foundations, Trusts and 
Corporations

1,356,194 1,770,231

interest Received 232,301 242,579

Membership Subscriptions 3,683 2,012

Surplus on Sale of Assets 13,612 25,576

Consulting and Training Fees 63,976 76,889

Reimbursements, FASSTT and Other income 380,553 139,695

Fee-For-Service – Counselling 239,928 61,473

10,751,702 10,225,118

nOte 3: OPeratinG surPLus FOr tHe year

The operating surplus for the year is $479,050  
(2012 surplus $163,579) and arises after charging:

2013 
$

2012 
$

Depreciation 221,953 238,512

Superannuation expense – defined 
contribution plans

543,129 505,070

Operating lease expenses – rent of office 
building

208,503 184,029

Notional interest charged on interest free loan 
from Dara Foundation

15,120 18,241

Loss on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment

7,571 1,642

nOte 4: auditOr’s Fees
2013 

$
2012 

$

Audit fees 18,683 15,740

nOte 5: CasH and CasH eQuiVaLents
2013 

$
2012 

$

Cash on hand 715 815

Cash at bank 1,143,530 169,601

1,144,245  170,416

Term deposits 6 3,130,000 2,834,402

Cash at end of year in Statement of Cash Flow 4,274,245 3,004,818

nOte 6: terM dePOsit
2013 

$
2012 

$

Term Deposit 3,130,000 2,834,402

The term deposits outstanding as at 30 June 2013 are a 12 month 
deposit of $1,000,000, held at MECU maturing on 19 June 2014, 12 
month deposit of $2,000,000 maturing on 27 June 2014 and 12 month 
deposit of $130,000 matured on 30 June 2014. The interest rate applied 
to all three term deposits is 4.20%.

nOte 7: trade and OtHer reCeiVaBLes
2013 

$
2012 

$

Trade receivables 424,480 322,601

Sundry debtors 10,500 10,500

Accrued revenue 83,864 38,186

Prepayments 25,392 19,625

544,236 390,912
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nOte 8: PrOPerty, PLant and eQuiPMent
2013 

$
2012 

$

Buildings and improvements 874,370 752,207

Accumulated depreciation (183,608) (107,971)

690,762 644,236

Plant and equipment at cost 424,085 478,127

Accumulated depreciation (312,061) (360,850)

112,024 117,277

Motor vehicles at cost 912,025 933,791

Accumulated depreciation (636,130) (550,013)

275,895 383,778

Total of property, plant and equipment 1,078,681 1,145,291

Movements in carrying Amounts

Movements in the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and 
equipment between the beginning and the end of the current financial 
year are as follows:

2013 
$

2012 
$

Building and improvements

Written down value at the beginning of the year 644,236 618,803

Additions 122,162 60,312

Depreciation (75,636) (34,879)

Written down value at the end of the year 690,762 644,236

Plant and equipment

Written down value at the beginning of the year 117,277 166,182

Additions 48,183 16,539

Disposal (7,569) (1,641)

Depreciation (45,867) (63,803)

Written down value at the end of the year 112,024 117,277

Motor vehicles

Written down value at the beginning of the year 383,778 541,033

Additions — 23,708

Disposals (7,433) (41,133)

Depreciation (100,450) (139,830)

Written down value at the end of the year 275,895 383,778

nOte 9: trade and OtHer PayaBLes 
2013 

$
2012 

$

Trade payables 187,480 169,532

Superannuation — 67,165

187,480 236,697

nOte 10: PrOVisiOns
2013 

$
2012 

$

CURRENT

Annual leave 554,573 595,528

Long service leave 409,129 400,641

963,702 996,169

NON-CURRENT

Long service leave 240,282 231,503

1,203,984 1,227,672

nOte 11: BOrrOwinGs
2013 

$
2012 

$

Current 75,120 74,080

Non-current 26,460 92,380

101,580 166,460

The loan is an interest free loan provided by The Dara Foundation and is 
repayable in quarterly instalments over 6 years. The balance represents 
the discounted cash balance at 30 June 2013, using a discount rate of 
6.5% (2012: 8%). The outstanding cash balance at 30 June 2013 was 
$110,000 (2012: $190,000). The notional interest charge of $15,120 
(2012: $18,241) is included in building and occupancy costs.

nOte 12: retained earninGs 
2013 

$
2012 

$

Opening balance 1,517,335 1,517,335

Total comprehensive income for the period 479,050 163,579

Transfer to reserves (479,050) (163,579)

closing Balance 1,517,335 1,517,335

nOte 13: reserVes 
General Reserve 893,043 413,993

The general reserve is used from time to time to transfer surplus from 
retained earnings. There is no policy of regular transfer. it is used to 
support on going projects, provide seed funding for new projects and 
replace capital equipment.

nOte 14: net CasH FLOw FrOM OPeratinG aCtiVities 
2013 

$
2012 

$

Operating surplus 479,050 163,579

Add back depreciation 221,953 238,512

Less surplus on disposal (13,612) (25,578)

Add Loss on disposal 7,571 1,641

Add back notional interest on loan 15,120 18,241

(increase) Decrease in trade receivables (153,324) 150,407

increase (Decrease) in trade payables (49,217) (24,391)

increase (Decrease) in provisions (23,688) 112,225

increase (Decrease) in revenue received in 
advance

1,014,876 (6,986)

1,498,729 627,650

nOte 15: MeMBers
The organisation is an incorporated association. in the event of the 
winding up or dissolution of the association, any property remaining 
after the satisfaction of all debts and liabilities will not be distributed or 
transferred to members, but will be distributed or transferred to other 
institution(s) with similar objectives to The Victorian Foundation for 
Survivors of Torture. 

nOte 16: reLated Parties disCLOsure
The names of persons who were Board members at any time during the 
year are set out in the Board’s Report. Board members do not receive 
remuneration for services provided.  There were no other transactions 
that require disclosure for the year ended 30 June 2013. (2012: Nil)  

nOte 17: eXPenditure COMMitMents
The association has no capital commitments contracted for at 30 June 
2013.

The association is subject to non-cancellable operating leases 
that are contracted for but not capitalised in the financial report. The 
Foundation’s obligations fall due as follows:

2013 
$

2012 
$

Not later than one year 228,818 140,474

Later than one year and not later than five years 279,759 190,471

508,577 330,945

notes to the Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2013 (continued)

notes to the Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2013 (continued)
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nOte 18: FinanCiaL instruMents 

(a) financial risk management objectives and policies

The association’s principal financial instruments comprise 
receivables, payables, and cash and short–term deposits. These 
activities expose the Foundation to a variety of financial risks: market 
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Board Members manage the different types of risks to 
which the Foundation is exposed by considering risk and monitoring 
levels of exposure to the risks identified and by being aware of the 
environment and external factors that will impact the risk. This 
includes monitoring interest rates and the factors that impact interest 
rate movements, and determining how best to monitor the risk arising 
from those movements. Ageing analyses and monitoring of specific 
credit allowances are undertaken to manage credit risk, liquidity risk 
is monitored through general business budgets and forecasts.

The Association holds the following 
financial instruments:

2013 
$

2012 
$

Financial Assets:

Cash and term deposits 4,274,245 3,004,818

Receivables 424,480 322,601

Total Financial Assets 4,698,725 3,327,419

Financial Liabilities:

Trade and sundry creditors 187,480 236,697

Borrowings 101,580 166,460

Total Financial Liabilities 289,060 403,157

Net Exposure 4,409,665 2,924,262

(b) risk exposures and responses

 Interest Rate Risk

The association’s exposure to market interest rates relates primarily 
to short term deposits held. The borrowings of the Foundation are 
interest free. (See note 11). Balances subject to interest rate risk as 
at 30 June 2013 are as follows:

$ $

Bank accounts 3.10% 1,143,530 169,601

Term Deposit –MECU 4.20% 2,000,000 1,500,000

Term Deposit –MECU 4.20% 1,000,000 1,200,000

Term Deposit – MECU 4.20% 130,000 134,402

4,273,530 3,004,003

 Sensitivity analysis

The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk 
exposures in existence at the balance sheet date. At 30 June 2013, 
if interest rates had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all 
other variables held constant, surplus and equity would have been 
affected as follows:

net Surplus
higher / (Lower)

net Assets
higher / (Lower)

As at 30 June As at 30 June

2013 2012 2013 2012

$ $ $ $

+2% (200 basis points) (2012: 2%) 85,485 60,800 85,485 60,800

-1% (100 basis points) (2012: 1%) 42,742 30,040 42,742 30,040
 
The association’s exposure to credit risk is minimal. Cash is 
deposited in secure banking facilities to minimise the exposure 
to credit risks of bank deposits. Trade receivables relate to Grant 
and Government funding and are not considered to be a significant 
exposure to credit risk.

 Price Risk

The association is not exposed to price risk.

 Liquidity Risk

The association’s exposure to liquidity risk is minimal, as the 
Foundation hold sufficient cash balances in order to ensure that all 
liabilities are paid when due. The maturity of financial liabilities can 
be summarised as follows:

2012 1 Year or
Less

$

over 1 - 5
Years

$

More than
5 Years

$

total
$

Trade and Other Payables 236,697 — — 236,697

Borrowings 74,080 92,380 — 166,460

310,777 92,380 — 403,157

The undiscounted cash flows from borrowings are as follows: 

80,000 110,000 190,000

2013 1 Year or
Less

$

over 1 - 5
Years

$

More than
5 Years

$

total
$

Trade and Other Payables 187,480 — — 187,480

Borrowings 75,120 26,460 — 101,580

262,600 26,460 — 289,060

The undiscounted cash flows from borrowings are as follows: 

80,000 30,000 110,000

nOte 19: key ManaGeMent PersOnneL COMPensatiOn 
Short-term Benefits

Salary ($)
post employment Benefits

Superannuation ($)
total ($)

2013 946,055 85,505 1,031,560

2012 821,684 75,148 896,832

nOte 20: assOCiatiOn detaiLs
The principal place of business of  
The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture is

notes to the Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2013 (continued)

notes to the Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2013 (continued)

Foundation House
6 Gardiner Street
Brunswick Vic 3056 

161 Harvester Road
Sunshine Vic 3020

155 Foster Street
Dandenong Vic 3175

nOte 21: aFter BaLanCe date eVents
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial 
year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations 
of the association, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs 
of the foundation in future financial years.

Board members declaration
in the Board Members’ opinion:
•	 the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with the 

Associations incorporations Act 1981, the Accounting Standards, and 
other mandatory professional reporting requirements; 

•	 the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true 
and fair view of The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture’s 
financial position as at 30 June 2013 and of its performance for the 
financial year ended on that date; and 

•	 there are reasonable grounds to believe that The Victorian Foundation 
for Survivors of Torture will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board and 
is signed for and on behalf of the Board by:

 
Lynne Haultain Mr Richard Home
Chairperson Treasurer 
8 October 2013
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Foundation house -—The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc. (VFST)
General Email – all offices: info@foundationhouse.org.au
Client referral email – all offices: AdminTeam@foundationhouse.org.au
Client referral telephone  – all offices: (03) 9388 0022
Web address: www.foundationhouse.org.au 

Locations:

BRunSWICK
6 Gardiner Street
Brunswick 3056
Victoria, Australia
Telephone: (03) 9388 0022
Fax: (03) 9277 7871

DAnDEnonG
155 Foster Street
Dandenong, 3175
Victoria, Australia
Telephone: (03) 8788 3333
Fax: (03) 8788 3399

SunSHInE
161 Harvester Road
Sunshine, 3020
Victoria, Australia
Telephone: (03) 9300 8670
Fax: (03) 9277 7871

RInGWooD
Suite 5/45-51 Ringwood Street
Ringwood, 3134
Victoria, Australia
Telephone (voicemail):  

(03) 9879 4638

mailto:info@foundationhouse.org.au
mailto:AdminTeam@foundationhouse.org.au
http://www.foundationhouse.org.au
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